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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the yvear ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their Strategic Report on Virgin Media Finance PLC tor the year ended 31 December 2019,

For the pueposes of this Strategic Report. Directors’ Repon and financial statements, the Virgin Media Finance
PLC group will be referred w as “the group™. Virgin Media Finance PLC the entity will be referred 1o as “the
company ™. the group headed by Virgin Media Ine. will be referred to as ~the Virgin \Media group™. and the group
headed by Libeny Global ple will be referred to as “the Liberty Global group™

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary undertaking of Virgin Vedia Inc. ¢*Virgin Media™) which is itselt a
wholly -owned subsidiany of Liberty Global plc 1 ~Liberty Global™).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Virgin Media group operates under the Virgin Media brand in the U nited Kingdom Uk and trelapd.

The group provides broadband internet. fxed-line tefephony, mobile and broadcasting services in the UK and
frctand to buth residenrial and business-to-business (B2B} customers. The group is one of the UK's and Ireland’s
krgest providers of residential broadband internet. video and fixed-line telephony services in terms of the
number of customers. 'he group believes its advanced. deep-fibre cable access network enables it to offer taster
and hipher quality broadband services than its digital subseriber line, or DSL. competitors. As a result. it
provides its customers with a leading. next-generation broadband service and one of the most advanced
interactive television services available in the UK and [rish markets.

I he group provides mobile services 10 its customers using a third-party network through mobile virtual network
operators {AMVNCH arrangements.

In addition. through the Viegin Media Business brand. the proup offers a broad peritoliv of B2B voice, data.
internet, broadband and managed services solutions to small businesses. medium and large enterprises and public
sector organisations in the UK and Irefand.

AL3) December 2019, the group provided services to & midlion residential cable customers on its nevwork. The
group provides mobile elephony services to 3 millivn contract mobile customers and 0.3 million prepay mobile
customers over third parny networks. At 31 December 2619, over 84%0 of residential customers on the group’s
cable network received multiple scrvices and 62%0 were “triple-play ™ customers, receiving broadband internet,
video and fixed-line telephony services trom the group.

Liberty Global iy an international provider of broadband intemnet. video. fined-fine telephony  and mobile
communications  services o residential  customers  and  businesses  in Europe.  Liberty CGlobal's
operations comprise businesses that provide residemtial and B2l communications services in iy the
LUK and ireland through \ irgin Media. (i) Belgium through Telenct and (i) Switzerland. Poland and Slovakia
through (7PC Holding. [n addition, Liberty Global owns a 0% non-controfiing interest in the VodafoneZigpo
IV which provides residential and B2B consmunications services in the hetherlands,

A1 30 December 2019, Libery  Global's operations owned and operated neiworks tat passed 258
million homes and served 250 milbion revenue generating  units,  consisting of 9.3 million broadband
internet subscribers. 8.3 million video subscribers and 7.4 mitlion fined-line telephony subseribers. in
addition, [iberty Glabal alwo served 6.3 million mobile subscribers,

The principal activinn ot the company is to facilitate the group™s financing structure by impleswnting the group’s
capitai managemett poficics. making and faciltating extemnal barrowings and hoiding invesiments in subsidiary
wompapies. The compam ‘s investments include substantially all of the Virgin Media troup™s truding operating
compamies.

The group’s repotting seuments are bused on its method of imemal reporting o Libery Global and the
information used by s chiet executive officer, who is the chief operating decision maker, or CODAL 10 evaluate
segment performance and make capital allocation decisions,
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REVIEW OF THE BLSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the vear ended 31 December 2019, revenue increased by 0.3% to £5.168.1 million from £3.150.3 miilion in
2018 primarily as result of an increase in residential cable revenue and B2B revenue. See further discussion of
revenue under Performance against Kev Performance Indicators” below.

Cost of sales increased by 5.3%0 to £1.708.0 million for the s car ended 31 December 2019 trom £1.621.5 million
in 2018. Cost of sales increased during 2019, compared to 20t8 mainly driven by an increase in programming
and copyright custs primarify due 1o higher costs for cerfain premium and'or basic content, an increase in
internet and access costs primarily due to an increase in interconnect and roaming costs offset by a decrease in
mobile handset and other device vosts due to the effect of lower sales volumes and a lower average cost per
handset sold.

Gross profit decreased by 1.9%6 1o £3.460.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, from £3.528.8 miltion
for the year ended 31 December 2018 primarily due to the reasons detailed above. Gross margin has decreased
by 1.5%a 10 67.0% for the year ended 31 December 2019 from 68.5% for year ended 31 December 2018.

Administrative expenses decreased by 14.9% to £2.381.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, from
£2.800.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. This was partly driven by the release of an impairment
on network assets of £424.7m, partialiy offset by an increase in depreciation asseciated with property and
equipment additions related to the installation of customer premises equipment and the expansion and upgrade of
our networks and other capital initiatives. In addition, related-party fees and allocations. related to our estimated
shiare of the upplicable costs incurred by Liberty Global™s subsidiaries increased o £277.6 million far the year
ended 31 December 2019, from £156.9 million for the year ended 31 December 20t8. These chasges generally
relate to management, finance, legal. technology and other corporate and administrative services provided to or
by our subsidiaries. In addition there was a provision for litigation of £104.7 million related 0 a VAT matter in
the UK recognised during 2013,

Finance income decreased to £487_4 million for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2319, from £753.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The lower interest income arising due to lower average interest rates on related
party loan receivables from other Liberty Global group undertakings and the impact of the streagthening of
pound sterling against the €IS dollar in 2049 compared to a weakening in 2018. which resulted in lower foreign
exchange gains in 2019 than gains made on the fair value of the derivative financial instruments in 2018,

Finance costs decreased to £886.1 mitlion for the year ended 31 December 2019 from £1.008.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018, The decrcasc in costs was principally driven by the impact of the strengthening
of pound sterling against the US dollar in 2019 compared to a weakening in 2018, which resulted in lower losses
on the fair value of derivative financial instruments in 2019 than toreign exchange losses in 2018, in addition
there was an overall decrease in interest payable due 10 lower average outstanding third party debt and Jower
weighted average interest rates,

tas



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2619

REMIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Performance against Key Performance Indicators
Hevenue
Residentiat and B2B revenue includes both subscription and non-subscription revenue.

Cable subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for onguing services, Cable non-
subscription revenue includes. among other items, channel carriage fees, installation revenue. late fees and
revenue from the sale of equipment.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing setvices.
Residential mobile nun-subscription revenug inclies, among other items, inlerconnect revenue and revenue
fram sales of mobile handsets and other devices.

1321 subscription revenuc represents revenue from services Lo certain small or home office (SOHO) subscribers.
SOHO subscribers pay a premium price to receive expanded service levels along with broadband intemet, video
and fixed-line telephony or mobile services that are the same or similar to the mass marketed products offered to
residential subscribers. B2B non-subscription revenue includes revenue from business broadband internet, video,
fixed-line telephony. mobile and dats services offered to medium 1o large enterprises and on a wholesale basis.
to other operators.

Other revenae primartly includes broadeasting revepue

Revenue by major category for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

2019 2018 Increase:
Revenue: £ million £ million {deerease)
Residential revenue
Cable 3.665.7 36384 0.8 %
Mobile 655.9 663.5 (11.11%
Total residential revenue 4321.6 43019 0.5 %
B2B Revenue 775.3 778.0 (0.31%
Other revenue 2 i 1.) %
£.168.1 51503 0.3 %

§

The increase in residential cable revenue is due to an increase in both the average number of RGUs ' 1 "Revenue

Generating U nits™) and increased ARPU 7' 1= Average Revenue per U nit™s:

e fotal RGLUs increased due to the net effect of an increase in the average number of broadhand
internet, and fxed-line telephony RGU s, offset by @ decrease in video RGU's,

*  The increase in ARPU is primarily auributable o the ner effect of higher ARPU from broadband
wmternet and video services, offset by lower ARPU from Bxed-line welephons services and an
adverse change in RUL mix.
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continwed)

For the vear ended 31 December 2019, mobile revenue decreased to £655.9 million from £663.5 million in 2018.
The decrease in mobile revenue relales 1o a decrease in non-subscription revenue from mobile handset sales,
which typically generate relatively low margins. partially offset by £5.8 million of revenue recognised during
2019 in connection with the sale of rights 1o future commission payments on customer handsetl insurance
arrangements. This is partially offset by an increase in residential mobile subscription revenue primarily due to
anh increase in the average number of mobile subscribers. partiath offset by lower ARPL in the UK.

The decrease in B2B revenue is primarily due to lower revenue from data services, instatlation revenue. revenue
related to business network services and revenue from wholesale fixed-line telephony services. partially offset
by an increase in upfront revenue recognised in association with long-term leases of a portion of our networh and
an increase in the average number of broadband imernet SOHO RGUs in the UK.

The increase in other revenue is fargely due 1 an increase in broadeasting revenue in lreland.

Summury residenticd cable stiatistics

Selected statistics for the group’s residential cable customers are shown below:

2019 2018
Total cable customers 5,953,500 5946.600
Cable products:
Broadband internet 5,649,200 5.600.300
Video 3.967.800 4,143,100
Fixed-line telephone 4,940,600 4,023,300
Toal cable products 14,557,600 14,666.900
Cable products per customer (i) 2.45x 247«
Triple play penctration 60.8% 63.0%
Cable ARPU (ii) £51.34 £51.24

(i) Each telephone, television and broadband intermet subscriber directly connected to the Virgin Media group’s
network counts as one product. Accordingly, a subscriber who receives both telephone and television services
counts as two products. Products may include subscribers receiving some services for free or at 4 reduced rate in
connection with prometional offers.

(i} Cable ARPLI is calculated by dividing the average monthly subscription revenue texcluding intercannect
fees. channel carriage fees and late fees) for the indicated period. by the average ol the opening and closing
number of Customer Relationships for the period.

I'he total number of cable products fell o 14.557,600 at 31 December 2019 from 14,666,900 at 31 December
2018, representing a act dectease in products of 104,500,

Nummery mobile st ey

Sclected statistics for the proup's moebile customers are shown below:

2009 2018
Porstpaid mobile customers (i 3.013,280 2744500
Prepaid mobile customers (1) 263,900 CAT600
Tonal mohile customers 3277100 3.126.000
Mabile ARPU 10y £9.19 £0.61

(i1 Our Mobile Subscriber count represents the number of active subscriber idemification module (SEA D cards in
service rather than services provided. For example. if a Mobile Subscriber has both a dati and voice plan on a
smartphone this would equate 10 onc Mobile Subscriber. Altemnatively, a subscriber who has a voice and data
plan for a mobile handset and a data plan for a laptop {via a dongles would be counted as two Mobile
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Subscribers. Customers who do not pay a recurring monthly fee are excluded from our Mobile Subscriber counts
after a 3 day perod of inactivity.

(i) Mobile monthly average Tevenue per user (“Mobite ARPU™Y 15 calculated by dividing the average monthly
mohile subscription revenue (excluding sales and late fees) for the indicated period by the average of the
opentag and closing balances of wtal mobile subscribers in service for the period.

The group added 268.%00 postpaid subscribers in 2014, Growth in postpaid subscriptions was offset by a lower
prepaid base. resulting in an overall increase in the group's mobile base of 136,100 in 2019,

FINANCING .
As of 31 December 2019, the group had £12.494.8 million of financial liabilities compared with £12.745.6

million as at 31 December 2018, The principal changes to financial liabilities during the year are discussed as
follows:

In May 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued (i) $825.0 mitlion (£622.0- million) principal amount of
2029 VAl Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £300.0 million principal amount of 2020 A NI 5.25% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Cach series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 15, 2029, The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used 1o redeem in full () £387.0 million vutstanding principal amount
under the 2025 VM 5.5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. (b) 83345 million (£267.3 milliont vuistanding
principal amount under the 20235 VA) Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (¢) £300.0 million outstandding principal
amaount under the 2024 MM Sterling Senior Noies. In connection with these ransactions. we recognised 4 10ss on
debt modification and extinguishment of £37.4 million.

In July 2019, Virgin Media Secured Finance ple issued an additional $600.0 mitlion (€432.4 mitlion) principal
amount of 2029 VAl Dollar Senior Secured Noles at 101.75% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used to redeem in full (iy 3447.9 miilion (£337.7 milliony outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VAL Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £107.1 million outstanding principal amount under the 202)
VAT Sterling Senior Secured Notes. in August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 million principal amount of
2029 VAL 3.25% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 143%0 of par. [he net proveeds from the issuance of these
notes were wsed to redeem an equal outstanding principal amount of 2029 VAL 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Notes. In connection with these ransactions. we recognised a net loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of £23.3 million.

In October 2619, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited entered into VI Facitity N2 $3.300.0 million (£2.488.1
million) e loan facility. and VA Facitity . 2 €750.0 milfion (£635.0 milkivn) term foan facitity, both issued
at 99.75% of par. and Virgin Media Secured Finance Limited issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030
VM Sterling Senior Secured Notes at par. The net proceeds from these ransactions. 1ogether with cenain other
funds. were used Lo (3} prepay in full the $3.400.0 mitlion (£2.503.5 million) outstanding principal amount on
VAL Facility K and ibj redeem in full (1) $1.090.0 mitlion (£754.0 milliont outstanding principat amount of the
2026 AN 3.25% Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (21 £300.0 million outstanding principal amount of the 2023
VAL R 1250 Sterling Senior Secured Notes, In connection with these transactions. we recognised a net loss on
debt modification and extinguishment of £53.3 million.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Fhe wroup v exposed to volatiliny in izs cash Mows and earnings resulting from changes in interest rates and
toreign curreney exchunee rates, The group has entered inte various derivative instruments with a number of
counterparties 1o manage this volatitity ot'its cash ows and earnings.

The group has entered INto cross-gurrency interest rate swaps o manage interest rate and foreign exchange rate
currency exposures resulting from the variable and fined ratws of interest paid on dollar denominated debt
obligations and movements in fair value on certain of itx 1 S, dollar denominated debt. Additionally. the group
his entered into interest rate swaps (o manage interest rite esposures resulting fram the variable rates of mterest
paid on sierling denominated debt obligations and movements in fair value on certain of its sterfing denominated
debt. The group has also cntered imo LS. dollar forward rate contracts 1o manage forcign eschange rate
currency exposures related to cenain committed and forecasted purchases. See note 21 1o the group financia!
statements Lor futher information an the uroup’s derivative instruments

6
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Financial risk management

Details of the financial rishs and how they are managed are outlined in note 20 10 the group finanvial statements.
The principat financial risks faced by the group are credit risk. interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate rish and
liquidity risk.

Principal xon-financial risks

Virgin Media Finance PLC is a member of the Virgin Media group. which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertainties and is headed by Virgin Media Inc. These risks. amony others. are discussed in more
detail in Virgin Media Inc.’s annual report. The principal non-financial risks include the following:

+  economic and business conditions and industry trends in the L nited Kingdom (UK and lreland:

*  the competitive environment in the cable television, broadband and telecommunications industries in the
UK and Ireland including competitor responses 10 our products and services;

*  fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates:

« instability in global financial markets, including sovereign debt issues in the European Lnion (EU) and
related fiscal reforms:

*  consumer disposabic income and spending levels, awiuding the availabiliny and amount ot individual
consumert debr:

= changes in consumer television viewing and broadband internet usage preferences and habits;

*  consumer acceplance of our existing service offerings. including our cabte television. broadband internet.
fixed-line teiephony and mobile and business service offerings. and of new technology. programming
alternatives and other products and services that we may offer in the future:

*  the proup’s ability 1o manage rapid technological changes:

*  the group’s ability 1o maintain or increase the number of subscriptions 10 our cable television. broadband
internet. fixed-line telephony and mobile service offerings and our average revenue per household:

* the group’s ability to provide satisfactory customer service. including support for new and evolving
products and services;

*  the group's ability 10 maintain or increase rates to our subscribers or to pass through increased costs to our
subscribers:

«  the impact of the group’s future linancial performance. or market conditions generaliv. on the availability,
terms and deplos ment of capital:

< changes . or Railure or inabilits to comply with, government regulations in the LK and Irefand and adverse
outcomes from regulatory proceedings: -

* povermment intenention that impairs the group’s competitive position. including any intervention that
would open the group’s broadband distribution networks to competitors and any adverse change in the
group’s acercditations or heenses:

*  the group’s abilin o obin regulatory approval and satisfy other conditions necessary 1o close acquisinons
and dispositions, and the impact of conditions imposed by competition and other regulaton autherities in
connection with acquisitions,

4 the group’s ability 10 successfully acquire new businesses and. if acquired. 1o integrute. realise anticipated
efticiencies from. and fmplement our business plan with respect to, the businesses we have acquired or that

we expect 1o acquire:

+  changes in laws or treaties relating 1o taxation. or the interpretation thereof, in the UK and freland:

7
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PRINCUAL RISKS AND UNCERT AINTIES (continuved)

»  changes in laws and govermment regulations that may impact the availability and cost of capital and the
derivative imstiruments that hedge certain of the group’s financial risks:

«  our ability to navigate the potential irnpacts on our business of the {'K"s departure from the ELL

«  the abdin of suppliers and vendors tincluding our third-pany wiretess network providers under the group’s
MVNO arrangements) to timely deliver guality products. equipment. software. services and access:

= the availabilin of attractive programuning for our video services and the costs associated with such
programming;

«  unceraintics inherent in the development and integration of new business fines and business strategies:

¢ the group's ability to adequately forecast and plan fulure network requirements. including the costs and
benefits associated with the Network Extension:

= the availability of capita! for the acquisition and or development of Ielecommunications networks and
Serviges;

+  problems the group may discover post-closing with the vperations. including the internal cuntrols and
Tinancial reporting process. busingsses we acquire.

*  leakage of sensitive customer data:

= the outcome of any pending or threatened [itigation:

= the loss of key employees and the availability of qualified personnel:

+  changes in the nature of hey strategic relationships with pariners and joint venturers:

»  adverse changes in public perception of the “Virgin™ brand, which we and others license rom Virgin
Enterprises Limited. and any resulting impacts on the goodwill of customers toward the group: and

»  events that are outside of the group’s control. such as political unrest in intemational markets, terrorist
attavks. malicious human acts. natral disasters. pandemics or epidemics (such as the coronavirus (COVID-
193} and other similar events

Brexit

The UKy departure trom the FU could have a material adverse effect on our business. financial condition,
results of vperations or Jiguidity. On 33 June 2016, the UK held a referenduns in which voters approved. on an
advisory basis, an exil fom the EU, commonly referred 10 as ~Brexit™.

The UK formally exited the EL on 31 Januany 2020, and has now entered inie a transition period until 31
Devember 2020, during which the UK and the EL will negotiate to formalise the future UK-EL relationship with
reapect to a number of matiers. most notabhy. trade. Although the UK has ceased 1o be an £ U member, during
the transitien period their rading relationship will remain the same and the UK will continue to foliow the EU s
rules. such as aceepting rulings from the European Court of Justice, and the U K wilf continue to contribule to the
F1 s budget.

U peertingy remains as to what specific termy ot separation man be agreed during the transition penod. It is
possthle that the UK will fail to agree 1o specific separation terms with the EU by ihwe end of the transition
period, which, abseac entension. may require the UK 1o leave the 10 under a so-called “hard Brexir™ or “no-deal
Brexit™ withoui specitic agreements on trade. finance and other hev elements,
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

The foregoing has caused considerable uncerwainty as to Brexit's impact on the free movement of goods.
services. peaple and capital between the Uk and the EU. customer behaviour. economic conditions. interest
rates. currency exchange rates. and availabiliny of capital. £xamples of the potential impact Brexit could have on
Liberty Global group’s busingss, financial condition or results of operations include:

changes in foreigh currency exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets:

shortages of labour necessary to conduct our business, including our Network Extension in the UK:

disruption 10 our LK supply chain and refated increased cost of supplies;

a weakened UK economy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the

UK;

¢ legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the UK determines which
EL laws and directives to replace or replicate, or where previously implemented by enactment of L'k
taws or regulations, o retain, amend or repeal; and

*  various geopolitical forces may impact the global economy and vur business, including, for example.

other EU member states (in particular those member states where we have operations) proposing

referendums to. or electing to. exit the LU

COViID-19

{n March 2020. the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
{COVID-19) o be a global pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemivc. emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide. including travel restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global economy. disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse ecomomic impact resulting from the
preventative measurcs taken to contain or mitigate its owtbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Pending joint venturce tramsaction

On 7 May 2020. Liberty Global entered ino a Contribution Agreement with. among others. Telefonica. SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement. Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:50 joint venture.
which wili combine Virgin hMedia’s operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile busimess in the 1'K to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject to certain cenditions, including competition clearance by the
applicablc regulatory authorities, 11 is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021, The
Contribution Agreement alse includes customary lermination rights. including a right of the parties to wrminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty-four months following the date of the agreement.
which may be extended by six manths under certain circumstances.

Financing transactions

in May 2020, Virgin \ledia Trade Receivables Financing plc. a third-party special purpose financing entity, was
created for the puspose of facilitating the offering of certain notes, These notes are collateralised by certain trade
receivables of Virgin Media, creating a vatiable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary beneficiary and.
accordinghy. Virgin Media, and ultimateh Liberty Global, are required to consolidate Virgin Media 1 rade
Receivables Financing ple. The offering of these notes resulied in net proceeds of £214.4 million.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (continued)
in June 2020. Virgin Media completed various finanving transactions. as turther described below.
Senior notes trunsactions

The group issued 2030 seniot notes with principal amounts of $675 mitlion, The net proceeds. together with the
May 2020 proceeds were used 1o redeem in full €460 miltion and $388.7 million outstanding principal amount of
2025 senior notes.

Fhe group issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $230 million €300 million. 1he net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used ([} to redeem in full $497 million cutstanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2) for general corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-pussu with the group's existing secured notes and subject 1o certain exceptions.
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes transactions

The group issued 20360 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $650 million and €450 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these potes were used (1) 1o redeem in full £3235 million outstanding principal
amouiits of existing 2027 seador seeured notes. (271 redean in full £300 willion outstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured notes. (3 £30.0 million of the £521.2 million outstanding principal amount of

existing 2025 senior secured notes,

The pew senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group’s existing senior seeured notes and senior secured
credit facility, and subject to certain exceptions. share in the same guaraniees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.

Vendor financing notes transactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes 1il Designated Activine Company (Virgin Media Financing 11! Company)
and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes 1V Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media Financing 1V
Company. and together with Virgin Media Financing 11l Company. the 2020 V\I Financing Companies} were
created for the purpose vt issuing vertain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing Companies are third-
party special purpose financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin Media or Liberty Giobal.

Virgen Media Financing 11 Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £500 million and
£400 million. Virgin Aledia Financing 1V Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of
S500 million. The net proceeds trom the tune 2020 Vendor Finanving “otes were used by the 2020 VA3
Finsncing Companies to purchase certain vendor-financed receivabies of Virgin Media and its subsidiaries from
previously -existing third-party special purpose linancing entities (the otiginal A M Financing Companies; and
various other third parties.

FITULRE OLTLOOK

The directors will continue o review management policies in light of changing trading and market conditions.
Further detail of the future outlook of the group. is provided in Virgin Media Ine.’s financial statements and
annual report for 20149, which are available from the company secretarny at Virgin Media. 500 Brook Drive.
Ruading. United Kingdom, RG2 61t and on Liberty Global's website at www liberty global com.

SECTION 1728 UATENMENT

This statement is imended to disclose how our directors have approached and met their responsitilities under
5172 Companics Act 2006.

fn fine with Libeny Global's goal of ¢nhancing the long-term value tor the bepefit of its sharcholders, the

directors of the Virgin Media »versee the management of the group. to help assure that the interests of our
starcholders are served

1)
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

The directors of the group. apply the Corporate Governance Guidelines (page |5). essential to our business
integrity and performance, Therefore, as part of group operations as a whole consider:

* long-term consequences of decisions:

s employess’ interests;

*  business refationships with suppliers and customers.

*  the impact of cur operations on the environment and communities in which we operate: and

« the need to act fairly between shareholders.

The tevel of engagement of the directors is critical in the group’s successful invesiment in the infrastructure and
platforms that empowetr our customers to make the most of the digital revolution and connect to the
entertainment, experiences and people they love. We believe thal our scale and synergies with our partners help
bring the best connectivity and entertainment to our customers and, during 2019, the directors provided
thoughtful guidance to ensure that we enhanced and expanded our networks wisely. investing with purpose in
the technology. talent andg 1erritories with the most potential.

Customers/Partnerships — Virgin Media provides its customers with a leading, next-generation broadband
service, one of the most advanced interactive televisior services available in the UK and [rish markets and
mobile services. We believe our relationships with our partners help us deliver unique products and services to
our customers. The continued strategic involvement by the directors in these decisions to help foster these
relationships is critival to ihe group's long enm success.

Responsibility ~ Community & Enviroamest — As part of Virgin Media's strategy. we are commitied 10
growing a respansible and sustainable business. Our vision of using digital to make good things happen focuses
on two pillars: growing responsibly and sustainably and doing more good with digital. As outlined in the
Directors’ Report, we have outlined five sustainability goals to ensure that cur growth and contribution to the
LUK is delivered in a way that's good for people and the environment.

People - At Virgin Media, we know building an inclusive environment is essential 1o our growth, We're working
on building a fully inclusive culture. celebrating everybody’s individuality and differences. We want to empower
our people. so they feel valued, limitless and inspired to help build meaningful connections. The Directors
Report provides further information on Virgin Media's policy on employment and disabled employees.
Consideration of these factors and other relevant maters is embedded into all Virgin Media group decision-
making, strategy development and risk assessment throughout the year. Further information is available on our
website: https: ‘www.virginmedia.com corporate sustainability.

On behalf of the board

R G MceMNeil
[irector

28 September 2020



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors® Report
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The directors present their report and the audited finsncial siatements for the group and company for the year
ended 31 December 2019

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The group made a profit for the year. after tax. of €577.1 million (20E8: £384.6 millior). The directars have not
recommended the pay ment of a dividend (2018 £nil).

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors who served during the year and thereatter were as follows:

W T Castell {appointed 9 September 2019, resigned 9 March 2020}

R 13 Dunn iresigned 9 September 2019

M T Fries

MO Hifzi

R G hcNeil (appointed 9 March 2020)

T Nlochridge (resigned 11 June 2019)

A C Murray (appointed 18 Julby 2019, resigned 5 August 2019)

S5-P Paseu tappointed * March 20204

(; B . Withers (appointed 23 April 2020)

The directors of the company have been indemnified against lability in respect of proceedings brought by third
parties. subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity

provision is in force for directors serving during the financial vear and as at the date of approving the Directors’
Heport,

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The troup remains committed to the continuing introduction and practice ol progressive employ ment policies
which reflect changing business. social and employee needs,

The group aims o ensure that everyone connected to it is treated fairly and equally, whether thes are a current or
former member of stafT, job applicant. customer or supplicr,

Nobody should be discriminated against. cither directly or indirectiy. on the grounds of gender. gender
reassignment, marital status. pregnancy, race. ethaic origin. colour, nationality. natjonal origin, disability. sexual
orientation, religion or beliel, age. political affiliation or trade union membership. The policy applies w any one
who works for. who has worked for or who applies (0 work for Virgin Media or its partners. That means
permanenl. temporans . casual or part-time stal¥. anyone on a fixed-term contract, agency statT and consultants
working with the group. ex-emplosees and people applying for jobs. This applics to alt aspects of emplos ment.
including recruitment and traiming

Ibe group gives full consideration lo applications from employees with disabilities where they can adequately
ulfif the requirements of the job. Depending on their shills and abilities. emplosces with a disabilin have the
same opportunities for promotion. carcer development and trining as other emplosees Where existing
employees become disabled. it is the group™s policy 1o provide continuing employ ment wherever pracucable in
the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate training t achieve this aim.

In dine with Liberny Global™s “Code of Business Conduet™, the group™s employees and directors are expected to
display respunsible and ethical behaviour. w Bllow consistentdy both the meaning and intent of this Code and
act with integrity in all of the group’s business dealings. Managers and supervisors are espected o ke such
action as s necessany and appropriate to ensure that the group’s business provesses and practices are in full
vompliance with the Code,
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EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DMSABLED EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employee lnavolvement

The Virgin Media group is dedicated to increasing the practical involvement of individuals in the running of its
business. It seeks to achieve this as follows:

all employees are encouraged 1o understand the aims of the Virgin Media group and of their own
business area and to contribute 10 improving business performance through their knowledge.
experience. ideas and suggestions. This requires strong communication 10 ensure that empioyees are
briefed as widely as possible about activities and developments across Virgin Media. The online news
channel, open forums, newsletiers and leam meetings play important roles in this, as do the
development of people management skills and the ongoing conversations about performance and
development which underpin mid-vear and year-end reviews:

the Virgin Media group ensurcs that all employees are involved and consulted through “Voice™ which
operates at a national. divisional and local level. [t enables employees and employers to have an open
and mansparent relationship with a flow of information. It is focused around sharing information.
involving employees in decision making, gaining access to knowledge and experience or cesolving
differences of opinion. Involving employvees in decision making enhances confidence and job
satisfaction. creates a sense of belonging and empowerment. reduces stress and impacts positively on
wellbeing.

The Virgin Media group fosters a team spirit among employees and their greater involvement by offering
participation in bonus or focal variable reward schemes and team development opportunities. Virgin Media also
operates various recognition schemes which are designed to reward employees for behaviours which are
consistent with the Virgin Media values and has a volunteering scheme which allows employees 10 take a day
each year 10 volunteer with a charity or organisation of their choice. The group remains committed to the
continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies which reflect changing business. social
and employee needs,

et



Yirgin Media Finance PLC
Directors® Report
for the year ended 31 December 2019

ENVIRONMENT AL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES

Virgin Media is committed to growing a responsible and sustainable business. This means ensuring that our
growth and contribution to the LUK is delivered in a way that's good lor people and the environment.

In 2015, we set five sustainability goals 10

o Create opponunities for 100,000 small businesses to grow in the UK s economy through digital:

e Improve the sustainability performance of every new product:
e Grow our business without irereasing our carbon footprint:
®  urture an engaged workforce which represents the diversity of our customers and communities. and

e Support one million disabled people with the skills and confidence to get into and stay in work by the
end of 2020,

The first four goals form part of our *3 in 57 sustainability goals and our overall “Digital for Good® strategs
which concluded in 2019, The lasi goal. 1o support a million disabled people. will run unul the end of 2020,

Fach goal 1s owned by a member of the Virgin Aedia Bxecutive Committes and we have a dedicated
Sustainabifits team which facilitates and communicates our progress to becoming a more sustainable business.

W e pleased to say that we made posstive progress against al our tive goals last year.

While growing our business. we continued 1o cut our operational carbon footprint (Scope | and 2) with a
reduction of 45%e since 2014 across LIK and Ireland. For the first time we sourced 190% of our contracted
electricity from renewable sources. We also made significant strides towards our zero office wasie to fandfill
target. with only 3% going 1o landfill compared to 16% in 2018.

Scope’s Support 1o Work employment programme. funded by Vigin Media helped thousands of disabled
jubseehers fast year. More than 340,000 disabled people were provided with advice. skills and confidence to
find the right job for them via the scheme’s self-service and tailored programmes.

We're now in the process of developing a new strategy and a set of long term sustainability targets which align
10 the key material issues as identified by our people. customers and the communites we serve. This will be
published later in 2020,

Virgin Media communicates updates on performance and hey highlighns through its dedicated sustainability
website: www virginmedia.com sustainability.

GOING CONCERM

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of all of the trading companies in the Virgn
Media group. these consolidated financial staienents include substantiotly all of the trade and assets of the
wverall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections, which take account of reasonably possible changes
in trading performance. have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level. they have been
prepared tor the Virgin SMedia group as a whole  [hese forecasts and projections showed that cash on hand.
topether sith cash from operations and the undraswn revolving eredit factling, are expecied to be satficient for the
Virgin Media yroup™s and hence the group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months (rom the date of
this report. .

Taking into account these forecasts and projections and after making enquirics. the directors hase @ reasonable
expectation the group has adequate support and resourees 1o continue in operatianal existence for the furesecable
tuture.

I or these reasons the diregtars continue to adopt the going cancern basis in preparing these fnungial statements.
Consideration of the potentia! impact of COVID- 19 has not alwred this conclusion

14
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CORPORATE GOVERNAM'E

The group is committed to conducting business with honesty, integrity and respect. Corporate governance affects
the way the group directs its relationship with its stakeholders. The group believes that the highest standards of
corporaic governance are essential to the yroup's business integrity and performance. The group has adopted a
number of policies and procedures to suppont solid corporate governance in every area of the group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by the Liberty Global Board of Directors serve as a framework for
Board governance over the affairs of the group for the benefit of its shareholders. These include Code of
Business Conduct, Code of Ethics. Audit Committee Charter. Compensation Committee Charter. Nominating
and Corporate Governance Commitiee Charter and Succession Planning Committee Chaner.

Further information on Corporate Governance is available to the public on Liberty Global's website at
www libertyglobal.com or under the heading ~Corporate Responsibility”. The information on the website is not
part of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE ALDITOR

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware. there is no relevant audit
information, being information required by the auditor in connection with preparing its report. of which the
auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow directers and the group's auditor. each director has taken
all the steps that he/she is obliged to take as a director in order lo make himself'herself aware of any relevant
audit information and 1o establish that the auditor 15 aware of that information.

AUDITOR

NPMG LLP will be re-appointed under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors

/

C B E Withers
Director

Approved by the directors on 28 September 2020



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilitics in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors” Report
and Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2019

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report. the Directors” Report and the group and parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors 1o prepare group and parent company financial statements for each financial
veat. Under that law they have elected (0 prepare the group financiai statements in accordance with Intemnational
Financial Reponting Standards as adopted by the European Union {IFRSs as adupted by the LUy and applicabie
law and have clected 1o prepare the parent company financiat statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (LK Generalls Accepted Accoumting Practicer. incleding FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a trye and fair view of the stae of affairs of the group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that
period. In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements. the directors are required to:

o select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:
e make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent:

» for the group linancial statements, state whether they have becn prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adupied by the ELL

e for the parent company financial statements. state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
fillowed, subject to any material depanures disclosed and explained in the financial statements:

= assess the group and parent company s ability 1o continue as a going concem. disclosing. as applicable.
maers refated W going concern: and

* use the going concern basis of accounting unless they cither intend to liquidate the group or the parent
¢ompany of to cease operations. of have no realistic alternative but to do so.

I'he directors are responsible for heeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient 1o show and explain the
parent company *s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Comparies Act 2006.
They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
tinanciyl statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error. and have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasomably vpen to them 1o safepuard the assets of the group amd 0
prevent and detect traud and other irregularities.



independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
I Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC (“the Company ™) for the year ended 31
December 2019 which comprise the group income statement and statement of comprehensive income. group
balance sheet. group statement of changes in equity. group cash flow statement. company balance sheet
company stalement of changes in cquity and the related notes. including the accounting policies in note 2 of the
group financial staternents and note 1 of the company financial statements.

In our opinion:

o the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the paremt Company’s
affairs as at 3% December 2019 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended:

» the group financial statements have been properiy prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union:

+ the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting
standards. including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

« the fAnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Bayis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} ("FSAs (UK)7) and
applicable law. OQur responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,
and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard as apptied w listed entities. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion.

2 Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement ( whether or not
due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy: the
allocation of resources in the audit: and directing the effons of the engagement tearn. These matiers were
addressed in the context of our audit of the finanuial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinjon on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinion above, the key audit
matters. in decreasing order of audit significance. were as follows:

Group: Capitalisation of costs associated with construction and installation activities

Fhe Risk — Oversatement of Profies

Capitalisation of both internal and external costs incurred (pant of which is included in the net book value of
plant. property and equipment of £6.099.9 m (2018; £5.423.0 m); associated with the capital projects undertahen
by the group involve estimation of the amount of time and cosis that should be capitalised. The most significant
tisk is that the grovp may inappropriately capitalise construction and installation costs. The key risks in
determining if construction and installation costs qualify for recognition as an asset, include whether the costs
are dirgetly attributable to bringing the assel to the location and condition necessany for it Lo be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the geaup: it is probable that future evenomic benefits assoviated with the
item will flow to the group. and if the cost can be measured reliably.

The effect of these matters is that, as part of our tish assessment. we determuined that carry ing amount vf
Network assets of £5.504.7m has a high degree of estimation uncertainty . with a petential range of reasonabie
owtcomes greater than our materiality for the financial statements as a whole, and possibly many times that
amounL.



Independent Auditor’s Report {0 the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

Qur Respanse
Qur procedures included:

Cumitensd uperations - We evaluated the desiyn, implenientation and tested operatimg efTectiveness of key internal
controls in place used for identifying which construction and instal lation costs shuuld be capitatised.

Persannel interviews We challenged the amount of internal costs capitalised during the vear by comparing to
budgets. interviewing departiment heads to determine the level of time individuals have spent on capital items.
and analysed the changes to significant estimates utilised by the group to determine the amount of internal costs
to be capitalised (ifany ). and other changes in the business with a potential impact on cost capitalisation during
the year.

Fests wf denady - For both imernal and exiernal costs capitalised we selected a sample of plant. property and
equipment additions on costs capitalised and assessed the nature of the costs thereby assessing the
appropriateness of the group’s cost capitalisation conclusions.

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries

The risk  Jow risk high value

The carrying amount of the Company 's investments in subsidiaries of £4.699.4 m (2018: £4.699.4 m) represents
69.6%5 ot the company 's 1o1a} assels. The recoverability is not at a high risk of sighificant misstaterment or
subjeet to significant judgemen. However. due to their materiality in the vontext of the linancial statements. this
is considered to be the area that had the greasest effect on our overall audit of the parent company,

Cur response
Our pracedures included:

tevts of Wewa! We compared the carrying amount of material investments with the relevant subsidiaries’ balance
sheet to identify whether their net assets. being an approximation of their minimum recoverable amount. were in
exvess of their carrying amount and assessing whether those subsidiaties have historically been protit-making.

avessing subsidiary audits We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit ieams of those subsidiaries
where audits are performed and considering the results of that work vn those subsidiaries” profits and net assets.

3 Our application of materizlity and an overview of the scope of our audit

Nateriality tor the group financial statements as a whole was set at £31.6m i 2018: £51m), determined with
reference  a benchmark of revenue of £5.168m. of which it represents 1.0%6 (2018 124y,

A lateriaticy tor the parent Company financial seatements as a whole was sct at £31 060,000 (201 8; £-4.0MK0,0001,
determined with reference to a benchmark of Company total assets, of which it represents 0.8%4 (2018: 0.7%)

W agreed 1o report to management any corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding
£2.500.000. in addition to uther idemified misstatements that warranted reporting on yualitative grounds.

T he group’s reporting components comprise the U K and Irefand. we subjected the LK component to a lull scope
audit for group purposes and the Irish component e specified risk-focused audit procedures. |he latter was not
indivedually tinancially significant enough to require a tull scope audit for group purposes, but did present
specific individual rishs that needed to be addressed.

4 Ve have nothing to report on going concern’

Ihe Directors have prepared the financial statements on the poing concern basis ay they do sot intend 1o
fiquidate the Company or the Group or (0 cease their operarions, and as they have concfuded that the Company ™
and the Group's financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no
maierial bneenainties that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for
at least a year from the date o approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period™),
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Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors” conclusions and. had there been a
material uncertainty relared to going concern. to make reference to that in this audit repon. However. as we
vannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgemenits thal were reasonable at. the time they were made. the absence of reference 10 a
material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the group or the company will continue in
operation.

In our evaluation of the Directors” conclusions. we vonsidered the inherent risks 10 the Group's and Company s
business model. including the impact of Brexit. and analysed how those risks might affect the Groups and
Company s financial resources or ability 1o continue operations over the going concern period. We evaluated
those risks and conciuded that they were not significant enough 10 require us 10 perform additional audit
procedures.

Based on this work. we are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis
of accourting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over
the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We have nothing to report in these respects. and we did not identify going concern as a key audit matter.
5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Ansual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. ‘Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and. accordingly. we
du not express an audit upinion or, except as explicitly stated beluw, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so. consider whether, based on our financial
stalements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
stalements or our audil knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in
the other information:

Straregic report and directors” report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

+ we have not identified material misstatements in the sirategic report and the directors™ report;

& in our opinion the information given in those reports for the {inancial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and .

«  inour opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

L nder the Companies Acl 2006, we are required to report to you il in our opinien:

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the paremt Compans. of rewurns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us: or

« the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums: or

o cenain disclosures of directors” remuneration specified by law are not made: or

® we have not reccived all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

W have pothing 1o report in these respects,
7 Respective responsibilities

Directors ' responsibilities .

As explained more ully in their statement set out on page | 6. the directors are responsible for: the preparation of
the financial staterents including being satistied that they give a true and fair view: such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation ol financial statements that are free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company ‘s ability 1o continue as a going concern.
disclosing. as applicable, matiers related to going concem: and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend o liguidate the Group or the parent Company of 10 cease operations, or have no reafistic
alterpative but to do so0.
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Auditors responsibilities

Qur objectives are to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are Free
trom material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error. and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance. but does not guaramee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (Lik) will abways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraed or
error and arc considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 1o influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fufler description of our responsibiliies s provided on  the FRC'S  website  at
wwiy fre.org.ub auditorsresponsibilities,

8 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

T his repont is made solely to the Company “s members, as a body, in accordance with Chaupter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company ‘s members
those matters we are required (o state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fuliest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept of assume respensibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members. as a body. for our audit work. for this report. o for the opinions we have formed.

Kigestoosy

Katharine L'Estrange (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LIP, Statutery Auditor
€ harterved h-cnumqu

t Sovereign Square

Sowvereizn Street

f.eeds

LS14DA

1-3 September 2020
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes
Revenue 3
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Group operating profit 4
Finance income 7
Finance vosts H
Net finance costs
Profit before tax
Tax expense 9
Profit for the vear
Other Comprehensive Income
ltemy that will mot be rectassified o profit or loss
Actuarial (losses) - gains on defined benefit pension plans 27
Tax on defined benefit pension plans 9

ltems that will or may be subsequently reclassified to profit vr loss
Impact of movements in cash flow hedges 21
Exchange differences on the retranslation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity
holders
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

I'he notes un pages 25 to 73 form part of the (inanvial statements.

All results refate to continuine opertions.

2019 2018

£ million £ million
51681 5.150.3
~{.708.04 (6215
34601 3.528.8
(2.381.3) (2,800.2)
1.073.3 7286
4874 753.7
__{886.1) _ (1,0089)
1398.7) (255.2}
680.1 4734
{103.0) {88.8)
577.1 384.6
(1.2 8.5

1.0 R}

(6.2} 7.1

34 5.7

18.2 6.4
23.6 12.1
594.5 4031 .8
373.8 366.0
18.7 7.8
5948 403.8




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Balance Sheet
as ut 31 December 2019

Non-current assets

Inangible assets

Property. plant and equipment
Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax assets

Defined benefit peasion plan asset

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
laveniories

Cash and short lerm deposits

. Total assets

Carrent liabilities
Frade and other pay ables
Financial liabilities
Provisions

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other pavables

Financial liabilities

Provisions

Defined benefit pension plan Liability:

Total liahilities
Net assets

(‘:;iiul and reserves

Equity share capital

Share premium account

Other capital reserves

Unrealised gains and losses

Foreign currency transiation resene

Retained eamings

Virgin Media Finance PLC group sharcholders’ equity
Non-controfling interests

Fotul equity

I he notes on pages 25 10 73 form part of the Hinancia! statements.

Notes

"

10
H
I‘}

12

[
17
19

16

19
27

2.24

24
2
24
24

31 December 31 December
019 2018
£ million £ million
24401 25612
6,098.0 54231
54229 5.5879
36.3 174
LA 16453
86.4 80.7
15.632.1 153446
£2.3 {431
6309 628.5
546 60.7
319 162
$21.9 848.5
16.454.0 16,1931
(1391 9 (166303
(20315 12.013.0)
13.6) (3.5)
{3,626.8) (3.6816)
126.8) 136.8)
110.463.5) {10,732.5
(124.9) (123.9)
17.9 {7.8)
L6230 110.901.03
{14.249.9) {14.582.6)
2.204.1 1.610.5
.1 01
625.9 6259
12.093.6) {2.099.1;
10.7 53
0.3 111
33708 302740
282 1.570.3
380 402
CT a4 1.610.5

.

These financial statements were approved by the directors un 28 September 2020 and are signed on their behalf

v
R G MeNeil

Director
Company Registration Number: 03061787
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

. Notes £ million £ mitlion
Operating activities
Profit for the year 77.1 384.6
Idjustmenis ta reconcile profit i the voar atiributable to cquity
holders of the pareit 1o net cash ayflon from operating activines
Depreciation A 1.056.7 1.036.9
Amorlisarion of intangible assets 10 193.1 185.8
Impairment of network assets 1464 .6} -
Net finance costs 548.2 4525
Share-based payments 451 7.2
Income taxes §22.7 83.5
Gains on disposal of property, plant and cquipment (3.3 2.3
Unrealised losses/(gains) on derivative instruments 180.9 13014
Non-cash foreign exchange movements (1409 3320
Decrease in trade and other receivables 167.4 3.5
Decrease dincrease) in invenloties 6.1 8.0
(Decreaselincrease in prepay ments and other assets ¢19.6) 48.2
Decrease in trade and other pay ables 210 6.5}
Increase in accruals. deferred income and other current liabilities 210.8 484
Increase (decrease) in deterred income and other fonyg term liabilities lo.d 2.3y
Decrease in provisions 10.2) t24.00
Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activities 1.887.5 22034
Net cash infllow from operating activities 2460 25880
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (42814 (+31.8)
Loans (o) repayment {rom parent and group undertalings 14449 O3
Proceeds on sale of property. plant and equipmeat 22 kX
Acquisition net of cash acquired - 3.0
Change in restricted cash 116.5) 15.5)
Interest received 284.2 3138
Net cash outfllow fronm investing activities (603.1) (22.8)
Financing activities
Interest paid 1619.7) 1631 2t
Settiement of cross currency inwerest rate swaps 87.4 750
“ew borrowings. net of financing fees 39850 19213
Repayment of borrowings (3.247.1) (391593
Capital lease payments (48.3) AR K]
“et cash outflow from financing activities {1.842.5: 12571
L'Hect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivatents 1.3 0.4
Net increase/{decrease} in cash and cash equivalents 177 6.9}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Janvan [ 6.2 231
Cash and cash equivaients at 31 December 15 A T6.2

The notes on pages 235 to 75 o part of the linancial statements.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 3] December 2019

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS

The censolidated financial statements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 September 2020 and the Group Balance Sheet was signed
on the board’s behalf by R G McNeil. Virgin \ledia Finance PLC is a public limited company incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The company’s shares are not publicly traded although the Senior Notes issued by the
company are registered on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policics adopted by the group are set out below and have all been applied consistently
throughout the current year and the preceding year except as discussed betow.

Basis of preporation

Notwithstanding net current lizbilities of £2.804.9 mitlion and net liabilities £2.60%.3 million as &t 3| December
2019 for the Group and Company respectively and a profit for the Group for the year of £577.1 million. the
financial statements have been approved on the asswmption that the group remains a going concemn. The
fotlowing paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion.

ttis Virgin Media's practice for operationa! and financial management to be undertaken at a proup level rather
than for individual entities that are wholly ewned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for
all of Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of
normal business practice. regular cash flow forecasts for both short and long term commitments are undertaken
ar group level.

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of substantially all of the trading companies in
the Virgin Media group. these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets
of the overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections. which take account of reasonably possible
changes in trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have
been prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These indicate thai cash on hand, together with cash from
operations, repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn revolving
credit facilities, are expecied to be sufficient for the Group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months
from the approval of these (inancial statements,

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level. the dircctors have alse assessed the
position of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £2.608.3 million as at 31 December 2019, this
assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides. the company will have sufficient
resources. through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they fall due for that
period,

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial suppont. the directors acknowledge
that there can be no certainty that this support will continue although. at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. {'onsequently. the directors are confident that
the Compam will have sufficient funds 10 continue 10 meet its fiabilities as they fall due for at least |12 months
from the date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. Consideration ot the potential impact of COVIL)- 19 has not altered this conclusion.

Variable interest envities

On 30 November 2018, in connection with vertam Liberts Global group reorganisations, the group completed
the wranster of Liberty Property Holdeo ! Limited and {.iberty Property Holdeo |1 Limited from the group o
Liberty Property Holdceo 1t} Limited. another subsidiary of Liberty Global group outside of Virgin \edia group.
Liberty Property Holdco | Limited. Liberty Property Holdeo 11 Limited and Liderty Propertny Holdeo i) are
collectively referred 1o as “the Libern Property Companies.” The asseis held by the Libenty Property
Companies are used by the group creating a variable interest in the 1 ibenty Property Companies for which the
group is the primary beneficiary and. accordingh. the group is required to caonselidate the | iberty Property
Companies.



Virgin Media Finance PL.C
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

2

Accounting policies (continued)

New standuardy, amendments and interpretations adopted by the group
The tollowing standards and interpretations have been issued with an effective date for accounting periods
beginning after the date of these financial statements:

n January 2016, IFRS 14, Leases (IFRS 161 was issued which results in lessees recognising right-of-use
(RO ) assels and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position with additional disclosures about feasing
arrangements. FFRS 16 also eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases by
a lessee. The main impacts of the adoption of this standard are (i) the recognition of ROL and iease fiabilities in
our consolidated statement of financial position for leases previously accounted for as operating leases and (ii)
the replacement of operating lease cxpense with a depreciation charge for ROU assets and interest expense for
lease liabilities.

This change resulis in a front-loaded total kease expense versus the previous straight-line operating lease
expense.

The growp adopted IFRS 16 on January [ 2019 by using the modified retrospective approach. The group
applied the following practical expedients and options:

¢ o transition, the group did not reassess which existing contracts are or contin leases. In addition, we
did not use hindsight during transition:

*  The group did not apply the practical evpedient that permits a lessee 1o account tor lease and non-lkease
components in a contract as a sinule lease component and, accordingly. the group will continue to
account for these components separately &

*  The group did not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases with terms of 12 months
or kess: angd

& The group applied 4 single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably simitar characteristics.

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, on lanuary 1. 2019 the group recorded ROU assets of £201 mitlion and lease
tiabilities of £204 million, There was no impact o the group’s retained earnings. The adoption of IFRS 16 did
not have a significant impact on the consolidated statements of profit or luss or cash flows.

£000
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at
3 December 2018 167.878
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at | Januan 2019 138.100
Add: inance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2018 66049
tL.ess): short-tern leases not recognised as  lizhility (17)
Lease liability recognised as at | January 2019 204,132

26




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2619

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertuinty

The preparation of financial staternents requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reporied for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues
and expenses during the vear. The nature of estimation means that acwal outcomes coutd differ from those
estimates,

The most significant judgments and estimations used by management in the process of applying the group's
accounting policies are discussed below:

Impairmem of imangible aysets
Goodwill and intangible assels with indefinite lives are assessed for impairment annually and when such
indicators exijst,

When value in use calculations are underiaken. management must estimale the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
these cash flows. Where Fair value less cost to sell is used. the valuation must represent the fair value of the
cash-generating unit in an orderly transaction between market participants under current market conditions. less
costs to sell, .
Deferred tax assets :

Deferred tax assets arc rccognised for unused tax losses and allowances to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit wilt be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required 1o
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised. bascd upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Details of the measurement of the group’s deferred tax asset recognition and measurement are provided in note
Q.

'roperty. plunt und equipment

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment, other than freehuld land, on a straight-line basis
at rates calcuated 1o write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated useful
life. Uscful lives are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively.

The nature and amount of labour and other costs to be capitalised with respect to construction and installation
activities involves significant judgement. In addition to direct external and internat fabour and materials. the
group also capitalises other costs directly altributable to the proup™s construction and installation activities.
including dispatch costs, quality-control costs. vehicle-related costs and certain warehouse-related costs. The
capitalisation of these costs is based on time sheets, time studies. standard costs, call tracking systems and other
veriftable means that directty 1ink the vcosts incurred with the applicable capitalisable activity. The group
continuously monitors the appropriateness of its capitalisation policies and update the policies when necessary
to respong to changes in facts and circumstances. such as the development of new products and services, and
changes in the manner that installations or construction avtivities are performed.

Feair valiy measwerement of financial imiruments

Managenient uses vatuation techniques 10 determine the fur value of financtal instrusments (where active miarhel
quotes are not available) and non-firancial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions
consistent with how market participants would price the instrument,

Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. [n that
case management uses the best information availahle. Lstimated fair values may vany from the actual prices that
would be achieved inan arm’™s length transaction at the reporting date (see pote 21,



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Growp Financial Statements
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Accounting policies (continued)

Baxiy of consolidution

Subsidiaries are entities controiled by the group. The group controls an entity when it is exposed to. or has
rights to. variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. In assessing control. the group takes inky consideration powntial voting rights. The
acquisition date is the date on which conwrol is transterred 1o the acquirer. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Losses applicable 10 the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are alfocated 1o the
non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

Auvquisitinns under « cuntrol

Business combinations between entities that are under common controt are accounted for at book value, The
assets and liabilities acquired vr transferred are recognised or derecognised at the carrying amounts previously
recognised in the group controlling shareholder's consolidated financial statements. The componems of equity
of the acquired entities are added to the same components within the group equity and any gain loss arising is
recogaised directly in equity.

Transuctions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions. and any unsealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
ransactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gans arising trom transactions with equity-accounted investees are
climinated against the investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains. but onby o the ¢xtent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency transiation

The group’s consolidated financial statements are presenied in pound sterling. which is also the parent
company's functional currency. T'ransactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the local entity's
functional currency by applying the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign cumencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling
al the balance sheet date. All exchange ditferences are included in the Group Income Statement. except where
hedge-accounting is appiied and for dilferences on monetary assets and labilities that form part of the group’s
net investment in a foreign operation. These are recorded dircctly in equity until the disposal of the net
investment, at which time they are reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Non-monctans items that are measured in terms of historical cast in a foreign currency are ranslated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Gowdwitl

Business combinations. other than common control business combinations. are accounted for wusing the
acquisition method as af the aequisition date. which is the date on which controf is 1ransferred to the group. The
group measures poodwill at the acquisition date as:

the fair value of the consideration transferred: plus

the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree: plus

the fair value of the existing equity interest in the pequiree; less

the net recognised amount {generally fair saiuet of the ideniifiable assets acquired and liabitities
assumed.

LI )

Cuosts related o acquisitions. other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, ure expensed
as invurred

W fiem the caeess is megative dny gain or hargain purchase is recognised in protit or luss immediately
Ans contingent consideration patable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. I the contingent

consideration ds classified as eguits. i1s not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within eguity.
Otherwise. subsequent chanees 1o the fair value of the comingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss,




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019
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Accounting policies (continued)

On a transaction-by-transaction basis. the group elects (o measure ron-controlling interests. which have both
presenil ownership interests and are entitled 1o a proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation, cither at s fair value or at its propartionate intetest in the recognised amount of the identiftable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. All other non-controiling interests are measured at their fair value
at the acquisition date.

Property, plant and equipment
Property. plant and equipment is stated al cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses. The cost includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Property. plant and equipment acquired through business combinations is initially recorded at fair value on
acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on all property. plant and equipment, other than freehold fand, on a straight-line basis
at rates calcutated to write ofT the cost of each asset over the shorter of its Jeasing period or estimated useful life
as follows: :

Network avsets. cable plunt umd equipment
Network assets - 3-30years

Network assets includes construction in progress which is not depreciated and comprises of materials,
consumahles and direct labour relating to network construction and is stated at the cost incurred in bringing
each product to its present location and condition. as follows:

Raw materials and consumables - Purchase cost

Work in progress - Cost of direct materials and labour

Crher fixed assets

Right-of-use property - Petiod of lease

Freehold property. other than land - 30 years

Leasehold improvements - 20 years or. il less, the term of the lease

Fumiture and fixtures - 5-12years

Computer equipment - }-5years .
Motor vehicles - Syears

Labour costs relating to the design. consteuction and development of the network. capital projects. and related
services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the life of the relevant assets.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable, The usetul lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and where adjustments are required. these are made prospectively,

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plunt and equipment

In accordance with 1AS 36 fmpairment of 1oon”. intangible assets with finite lives are amertised on a straigh-
line basis over their respective estimated useful lives. and reviewed for indications of impairment at each
repurting date. I any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required. the
group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair valee less costs 0 sell and 1y value in use and 15 determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
nol generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. the asset is considered impaired and is written
down to s recoverable amount. In assessing value in use. the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that retlects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific w0 the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the
Uroup Income $1atement it those expense valegories consistent with the fanction of the impaired assel.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that previous!ly recognised
impairment fosses may no longer exist or may have decreased. I such indication exists. the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previousls recognised impainment boss is reversed. other than on goudwitl. only if there has
been a change in the estimates used (o determine the asset’s recoverable amount siace the last impairment loss
was recognised.

29
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Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions for liabilities and churses

Provisions are recorded when the group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for
which it is probable that the group will be required to settle by an outtiow of ¢conomic benefits and for which a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and adjusted w reflect the current best estimate.

Where the effect o the time value of mones is material. the amount of the provision is the present value of the
expenditures expecied o be required to settle the obligation,

Leavey

On the lease commencement date, (i) a RO asset is recognised representing the right 10 use an underlying
assel and (ii) lease liabilities representing the group’s obligation lo make lease payments over the lease term.
Lease and non-lease components in a contract are generally accounted for separately.

The group initially measures jease liabilitics at the present value of the remaining lease payments over the lease
ferm. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included only when it is reasonably certain that the option
will be exercised. As most of the group’s leases do not provide enough information to determine an implicit
interest rate, a portfolio fevel incremental borrowing rate is used in the preseat value calcudation. ROU assets
are initially measured at the value of the lease liability. plus any initial direct costs and prepaid lease puyments,
less any lease incentives received.

ROU assets are generally depreciated un a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the usclud Iife
of the asset. Interest expense on the lease liability is recorded using the effective interest method.

Padicy upplicable before 1 lanuary 20119

In the comparative period under 1AS 17, the group entered into a lease under which it takes substantially atl the
risks and rewards of onwnership of an asset, the lease was treated as a finance lease.

The assets were recorded in the balance sheet as a fixed tangibie asset and depreciated over their useful
cconumic lives. Finance lease debtors were recorded in the balance sheet, and future instalments pavable under
finance leases were included within creditors. net of finance charges. Rentals receivable and payable under
these finance lease arrangements are apportioned: the finance elements were recorded in the profit and loss
account on a reducing balance basjs and the capital elements reduced the culstanding liahility or asset in
acqordance with the terms of the contract.

Rentals applicable o operating leases where substantially all of the benefity and risks of ownership remained
with the lessor. were charged to the profitand loss account on a straight fine basis over the perivd of the jease.

Inserest bearing loans and borrowings
All lvans and borrowings are initiathy recognised at Fair value less directly anributable transaction costs.

After initinl recopnition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effeciive interest method,

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase. settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance conts.

Fipance costs which are incurred in connection with the ssuance of deby are deterred and set oY against the
borrowings to which they refate Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
ettective interest method.,
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Accounting policies (coatinued)

Derivative financial instruments und hedging

The group has established policies and procedures 1o govern the management of its exposure to interest rate and
foreign currenicy exchange rate risks through the use of derivative financial instruments. including interest rate
swaps. cross currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative conlract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negalive.

The foreign currency forward rale contracts. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps arc
valued using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in
either the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based
upon quoted credit default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are
subject to master nefting arrangements are not offset and have not provided. nor require. cash vcollateral with

any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates. these
losses would generally be offsei by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used 1o hedge
underlying commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial insruments for speculative
trading purposes, nor does il enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk
that is greater than the exposure (o be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception
to be highly effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges, when hedging exposure to variability in the
fair valuc of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments. or as cashflow hedges, when hedging
exposure lo variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised
asset or lability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship, as set out in IFRS 9. must be classified as held
for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cush flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly
in Other Comprehensive Income. while the ineffective portion is recognised in the Group Income Statement,
Amounts 1aken to Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified 10 the Group Income Statement when the
hedged transaction is recognised in the Group Income Statement, such as when o forecast sale o purchase
veeurs, in the same line of the Group income Statement as the recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item
is the cost of a non-financial asset or liabilitv. the puins and losses previously accumulated in equity are
transferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or liabilin . It a forecast transaction
is no longer expected 10 oceur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the Group
Income Statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold. werminated or exercised without replacement or
rollover. or il its designation as a hedye is revoked. amounts previoushy recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income remain in equity untif the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassified w0 the Group income
Statement.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Fair value hedges

For fzir value hedges. the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in the Group
Income Statement immediately. ogether with any changes in the fair value ol the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk. The chunge in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the
hedped item attributable to the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the Group Income Statement relating o
the hedged em.

If the hedyzing instrument expires or is sold. terminated or exercised without replacerment or rollover. or if its
designation as a hedge is revoked. then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item
aristng from the hedged risk is amottised t profic or loss from that date.

Inventories

Inventory consists of puods for resale and programing inventones which are valued at the Jower of cost or net
realisable value using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Cost represents the invoiced purchase cost of
inventory. Net realisable value is based on judgements. using currently available information about obsolete.
slow moving or defective inventory. Based upon these judys ts and estimates. which are applied consistently
from period to period. an adjustment is made to state the carrying amount of inventory held for resale at the
lower ol cost and net realisable value.

Trade and other receivabies

Qur trade receivables are initiadls measured at tair value and subsequently reported at amortised cost. net of an
atlowance for impairment of trade receivables. The alfowance for impairment of trade receivables is estimated
based upon vur assessment of anticipated loss related to uncollectible accounts receivable. We use 2 number of
factors in determining the allowance. including, among other things, collection trends. prevailing and
anticipated economic conditions. and specific customer credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either
payment is received or the likelihood of collection is considered to be remote. For additional information
regarding our trade receivable and allowance for impairment of trade receivables. see note 13,

Concentration of credit rish with fespect to trade receivables is fimited duc to the farge number of residential
business customers. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services 1o customers whose accounts are
delinquent.

Cnh and short term deposie

Cash and short-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow Stalement.
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits as defined above. et of outstanding bank
overdrafls,

Fax

Current income fax

Current tax assets and liabilitics are measured at the amount expected 1o be recovered from or paid 10 the
taxation authoyities. based on tax rares and taws that are enacted of substantively enucted byt balance sheet
date.

Current income tax relating w items recognised direcily in equity is recognised in equity’ and not in the income
statemuent. The directors periodicathy evaluate positions taken in the 1ax rewrns with respect Lo situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to intezpretation and establish provisions where appropriate,
Income tax is charged or credited 10 Other Comprehensive Income 1f it relates 10 tems that are charged or
credited 10 Other Comprehensive {nvome.
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2

Accounting policies (continued)

Deferred tuex
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary difterences. except:

= When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

¢ In respect of 1axable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures. when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be contralled
and it is probable that the temporary ditferences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recopnised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available apgainst which the deductible temporary differences. and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused 1ax losses can be utilised, except:

+  When the deferred tax asset relating o the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the
transaction. affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

e In respect of deductible wmporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
inlerests in joint venlures, deferred tax assets are recognised only lo the exient that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the iemporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at cach reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that futute taxable profits will allow the deferred 1ax asset 1o be recovered.

Deferred tax assers and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the
asset is realised or the liahility is settied, based on tav rates (and tax laws) that have been enacied or
substantively enacted at the reponting date.

Deferred 1ax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is tecoghised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in Othet Comprehensive Income or
directly in equity. .

Deferred tax assels und deforred s Babilities are offset if a legally enforeeable right exists 1 set ofF eurrent tax
assels against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate 1o the same tasable entity and the same
taxation awthority.

Penyions

The group contributes 1o the Virgin Vedia sponsored group personal pension plans for eligible emplosees.
Contributions 1o these schemes are recognised in the Growp [ncome Statement in the period in which they
become pay able. in accordange with the rules for cach of the plans.

The group operates three defined benefit pension plans. which require contributions to be made to separately
administered funds. The plans are closed to new entrants.

The regular cost of providing benefits under the defined bencfit plans is attributed w individual years using the
projected unit credit method. Variations in pension cost. which are identified as a result of actuarial valuations.
are amortised over the average expected remaiming working lives of employees in proportion to their expected
pavroll costs. Past service costs are recopnised in the income statement on a straight-line basts over the vesting
period or immediately if the benefits have vested.
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2 Accounting policies (continuedj

When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for benefits aircady accrued) or a curtailment (reducing future
obligations as a result of a material reduction in the scheme membership or & reduction n future entitiement
oceurs, the obligation and relaled scheme assets are re-measured using the current actuarial assumptions and the
resultant gain or loss recognised in the Group Income Statement during the period in which the scrtlement or
curtailment oecurs.

The interest element of the defined benefit pensiun cost fepresents the change in present value of scheme
obligations resulting from the passage of time and is determined by applying the discount rate to the opening
present value of the benefit obligation. 1aking into account material changes in the obligation during the year.
I'he expected recum on scheme assets is based on an assessment made ai the beginning of the year of long term
market retums on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect of fair value of the scheme assets of contributions
received and benefits paid during the year. The difference between the expecied return on scheme assets and
the interest cost is recognised in the Group income Statement.

Actuzrial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
in which they occur.

The defined benefit pension asset or liability in the Group Balance Sheet comprises the total for each scheme of
the present value of the defined bene fit obligation tusing a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds).
less any past senvice cost not vet recognised and fess the Fair value ot scheme assets out of which the obfivations
are to be settled directly. Fair value is based on market price information and, in the case of quoted securities,
is the published bid price.

Revenue recognifion

Revenue earned from contracts to be recognised in line with performance obligations based on a five-step
model .

On inception of the contract we identify a “performance obligation” for each of the distinct goods or services
we have promised (o provide to the customer. The consideration specitied in the contract is alocated to cach
performance obligation identified based on their relative standalone seiling prices, and is recognised in revenue
as they are satisfied. The following table summarises the performance obligations we have identified for our
major revenue lines and provides information on the time of when they are satisfies and the relaled revenue
recognition policy.

“Performance obligat .
Peos iston o video, broadhand ioernet and frced-tine
telephony sersives oner our cable nenvork

Cuslanmers,

Revenue recognition policy
Revenue e these 8 pos ol sers ioes
is recognised evenly vrer the period
of' the agreement as the seesives are
provided.

Rercnue line
SV resonue
Networks

Cable

Performanuy obigabnns are deonficd for cach
distinet service tor whivh the cusomier has contracied
and are considered wbe satisfied vrer the time peniod
that these senvivey are delivere i
When the group chters o cantracts b provide
wervices 1o customers, the geoup ellen charges
instalfathon or wiher upiront lees

Lhese dves are gemerally delerred
and recopnised as revenue over the
contractual period. or longer il the ‘
uplront Lee restts in a matetial
renewad right

Trseatlativm amd otiier
uptient tees

| The group is obliped o eisare it can supplycocnives
!t the customer premise as per the castenwer contracl
i Phis includes cable plant and cyguipment mstatlation

At e Ll iRTs Promiise

Instaibation s not constdensd as @ wparake

[—
|
1

34
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2 Accouating policies {continued)

B2 revenue

Provisien of daly, s cice amnd aetwork solution
weryives, including the sule and maintenance ol
cyquipmoen o business customers. [nstatlazion charges
are charged in relation o the prosision of serices,

I'he group is obliged W provide the vustiemer with thye
connectivity services and or equipment stipukated the
customer conliat

Tostallation ix not considered as o wparate
perlormance obligation

The group deter upfrond instalasion
and certrin ponrecuTTing ks
reccived on business-t-business
contracts where wo mainLam
awpership of the msalled
cquipment. The deferred lees are
amortised inte revenue on a
straight-line basis, penerdly over
the loager ol tw 1erm ol the
armangement of the expected period
ol performance.

From time to time, we also enter
into apreements with cenain 328
customers pursuant o which they
are provided the right o use certain
clements ol our network, 17 these
arcements are determined lo
contain a lease that meets the
criteria to be considered a salew
e ks, We RCognize revenue
[rom the kease component when
contrel af the network clement -
trunzferred to the cusismer.

MobHe revenue -
Airtime services

Pros ision of minuics, wexts and dala over our Mobike
metwork.

The group is obliged W provide the vustomoer with a
SIM which is provisioned with contracied allowances
vach munth

The group recoghise revenue from
mobile setvices in the period in
which the related services are
provided. Revenue from pre-pay
customers is doelerred prior to the
commctcement of services and
recognisgd as the services are
rendured or usage rights expire.

‘L

Maohile revenue -
Handwets

Provision of mobile handset delivery (o the customer.

The group is obliged  provide delivery of mobile
handscls as regquesicd by the customer.

Arrangement conside ration
alkwated 1o handsets is recognised
us revenue when the goods have
been delivered und titke has passed.
For customers under a mobile
handset instahinent contract that is
independent af o mobile airime
Sefv s CUNLRICL TeYeRUL s
recugnised upon delivery,

There are no material obligations in respect of retumns, refunds or warranties.

Consideration from mobile contracts is allocated to the airtime service component and the handset component
based on the relative standalone selling prices of each component. When the group offer handsets and airtime
services in separate contracts entered into at the same time. the group account for these contracts as a single
contract.

lacremental revenues are generated based on wsage for calls and video on demand. The entity has a nght 1o
cansideration from the customer at an amaeunt that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the
entity s performance completed to date, theretore the entity recognises the revenue to the extent to which it has
aright 1o involice.

For subscriber promotions. such as discounted or free services during an introductony period. revenue is
recognised uniformiy over the contractual period it the contract has substantive termination penaltics. If 2
contract does not have substantive termination penalties, revenue is recognized onhy to the estent of the
disceunted monthly fees charged to the subscriber. ifuny.

frd
h
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2

Accounting policies (continued)

Orther income

fmierest incomy is recognised as interest accrues according to the effective interest method which uses the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cish receipts through the expected life of the flnancial instrument o the
net carrying amount,

Share-bused payments

The company is ap indirecl. wholly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Jnc. and Libenry Global ple. The
company has no share-based compensation plans Employees render services in exchange for shares or rights
over shares {equity -settled transactions) of Liberty Global ple common stock .

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair value of options and sharc appreciation rights are determined using the Black-
Scholes model. The fair vaiue of resiricted share units is determined using either the share price at the grant date
or the Monte Carlo model. depending on the conditions attached to the restricted share units being granted.
These transaction costs are recopnised. Wgether with a corresponding increase in ¢ither equity or amounts owed
to parent undertakings, over the service period. or, it applicable. over the period in which any performance
conditions are fulfilled, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the
award tvesting date), The cumulative expense recognised for equity settied transactions at each reporting date.
until the vesting date. reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that
are estimated to ultimately vest. in the opinion of management at thar date and based on the best available
information.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest. except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a marker vesting condition. which are weated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition is satisfied, provided that all other pertormance conditions are satistied.

ad
>
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3  Segment information

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group’s financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies. making and facilitating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
companies. The company s investments include all of the Virgin Mledia group’s trading operating companies.

The Virgin Media group’s reporting segments are based on its method of internal reporting to the Liberty
Gtobal group and the information used by its chief executive officer. who is the chief operating decision maker
{"CODM™), 10 evaluate segment performance and make capital allocation decisions,

It has heen determined that the Virgin Mledia group comprises a single operating segment. Fhis reflects how the
CODMI reviews the results of the group’s business based on revenue and profitability measures.

There is no material difference between the revenue presented to the COOM and the revenue of the Virgin
Media Finance PLC group. Revenue for the group was £5.168.1 million (2018 - £5.£50.3 million) and was
entirely derived from the sale of poods and servives.

Cieagraphic Lovations

The group’s revenue by geographic location is set out below:

2019 2018
£ million £ milkion

UK 4.763.5 4.757.7
treland 402.6 192.6
Total 5.168.1 5.150.3

4 Group operating profit

This is stated after charging {crediting):

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ) 1.004.7 1,027.1
Depreciation of right of use assets oo 40 98
Total depreciation 14467 1.036.9
Amertisation of intangible assets 193.1 185.8
Rent of premises 208 28.2
Crain on disposal of properts, plant and equipment 33 2.3
Cost of inventories recognised within cost of sales 2164 2323
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5

(a)

by

Auditor's remuneration

The group paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of'the financial statements and for

uther services provided Lo the group.

Fees paid to the auditor for audit and other services to the company are nol disclosed in its individual accounts

as the group accounts are required to disciose such fees on a consolidated basis.

Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services represents fees payable for
services in relation to other statutory filings or engagements that are required 10 be carried out by the group's

auditors.

2019
£ million

Awdit services:
Statutory audit services - audil of the parent company and group 0.5
financial stalements

Fees payable (0 the company's auditors and their associates for other services:
Statutory audit services - statutory accounts of the company's subsidiarics 0.2

2018
£ million

0.5

0.7

Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

Staff costs

Included in wages and salaries is a total expense for share-based payments of £48.3 million 12018 . £27.2
millions. all of which arises from transactions aceounted for as equity-settied share-based pasment transactions.

Further information on compensation of hey management personnel is disclosed in the related pany

transactions {note 28§).

2019 018

£ million £ million

Wages and salaries 390.5 3919

Social security costs 56.6 56,2

Pension costs - defined benefit scheme 1.6 38

Pension costs - defined contribution scheme 276 24.5

T'otat staff costs 683.3 676.4

Average staff numbers

The average monthly number of employees during the year was:

2019 2018

No. No.

Consumer 8% 6.0495

Support, | echnology and Innovation 3942 3254

Business 2241 2390

Lightning RR7 863

Mabile 52 73

Tonal staft numbers 12,948 13,575
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6 Staff costs and directors' emoluments {continued)

ey Directors” emaluments

There were no other transactions with directors during the year.

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
Directors’ remuneration 3.938 3.332
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans 1510 455
Total remuneration 3449 3.787
Company coniributions paid 10 mones purchase pension plans 18 10
Highest paid director:
Remuneration (including awards receivable under long term incentive plans) 2,148 2243
Company contributions paid o money purchase peasion plans 9 10
2.157 2253
2019 2018
No. No.
Number of ditectors aceruing benefits under money purchase plans 3 3
Number of directors who exercised share options under schemes
operated by ultimate parent company 3 4
Number of directors with shares received or receivable under long
term incentive plans 3 4

7 Finance income

Other finance income and interest-on amounts due from group undenakings and related patties are recognised

using the effective interest rate method in accordance with IFRS @ *Fipancial Instruments’.

09

£ million

Interest on amounts due from related parties 2838

Cain on foreigh exchange 200.7
Crain on derivative financial instruments -
Gain on fair value of financial instruments” -

Other finance income 0.6

Interest on pensions 2.3

Toral finance income 187 4

2018
£ million

Jiz4
4375
0.8
0.4
1.6
753.7
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8 Finance costs

Interest payable is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

For the year ¢nded 31 December 2019, [oss un extinguishment of debt was £188.8 million (2018 - £29.0
million) and related to the redemption premium paid and the write oft of deferred financing vosts as a resubt of
the redemption of the senior notes. senior secured notes and senior credit facilities from retinancing activities

during the vear [see note 17).

Interest payable on:
Senior credit facility and vendor financing
Senior notes
Loans from redated parties
Loss on derivative financial instruments
t.oss on foreign exchange
[Loss on debt extinguishment
f.oss on fair value of financial instruments
Inierest payable on leases
Unwinding of discounts on provisions
(hher interest and fees
lotal finance cosis

9 Tax
fa) Tax expense on prafit before tax
¢ urrenf invome lax
LX faxes

Deferred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporany differences

Movement in deferred tax assets due to change in tax rate

Prior year adjusiment

Total tax expense in Group Income Statement

(%) Reconciliation of the (ol tax expense in the Group Income Statement

2019 018
£ million £ million
2776 2494
3525 391.8
- 03
30.6 -
- 126,01
188.8 9.0
2038 -
12.0 6.0
1.5 1.1
23 32
BRI 1,008.9
2019 2018
£ milkion £ million
0.2 5.3 :
G.9 5.3
98 4 %491
13.9) 120.5)
7.6 4.7
i02.1 831.5
103.0 7888

Group Income Statement tax expease reconcitiation ta the standard rate of coeporation tax in the UK of 19%0

1218 [9%)

Protit betore income tax

Profit multiplied by the UK standard rate of corporation

tax 0f 197412018 - 19.253%
Lxpenses not deductible for 1as purposes
L tilisation of tax losses and other deductions
Other

Movement in deferred tax assets due to change in tax rate

Adjustment refating to prior years

T otal tax expense recognised in the group income statement

10

2009 W18

£ mitlion £ million
6801 473.4
129.2 su.u
6.7 154
1380 (10.9)

.6 LI

13.9) 20.3)

7.6 4.7

103.0 88.8
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9 Tax (continued)

{c) Reconciliation of the total tax expense

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Tax recognised in the Group Income Statement 103.0 88.8
Tax recopnised in equity . b4
Total tax expense 102.0 90.2

(d) Recognised deferred tax

Recognised deferred tax assets at 3] December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ million
UK deferred tax assets:

Depreciation and amentisation 1.370.1 1,.499.9

Derivative instruments 1.2 6.7)
Net operating losses 157.4 139.0
Other 5.5 13.1
Total UK deferred tax assets 1.544.2 1.645.3

The growp has determined it probable that in future it will generate sufficient pre-tax profits (o utilise
substantially all of its deferred tax assets related 10 unclaimed capital allow ances.

[n the March 2020 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will remain a1 the current 19%s and not reduce
o 17% from 1 April 2020. This will have a consequential effect on the group's future tax charge. If this tax rate
change had been substantively enacted a1 the current balance sheet date the deferred tax asset would have
increased by £182.3 mitlion. ‘

(e} Unrecognised deferred rax

Deferred tax assets in respect of the following amounts have not been recognised as there is not cusrently
persuasive evidence that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these timing differences will

FEVUISE,
2019 2018
£ million £ million
et operating losses 479.0 4139
Capital losses 12.104.6 12,§05.0
Other timing differences W0 3T
[2.897.6 12.885.6

4t
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9

Tax (continued)

N Movement in deferved tax bulances
Movements in delerrod tax during the ycar:

| Januany Recogaised in Recognised in 31 December

2049 income equity 2019

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Depreciation and amiortisation v 9 (129.8; - LTl
Derivative instrunenis (6.7} 179 - 11.2
Net aperating hsses 139.00 184 - 1574
Other 131 (LA IR 5.6
1.645.3 (102.t0 1.0 1,544.3

Mosements in delerred iy during the prior year:

E January Recognised in Recognised in 31 December

2018 income equity 2018

£ million £ million £ miilion £ mitlion

Prepreciation and amortisation L5775 177.6) . 1.4949.9

Derisative instrunrents 0.4 (13.60 - 6.7
Nt operating Josses 1336 LR - 139.0
Other . 122 23 14 13.1
1.730.2 1835 )] 1.645.3
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t0 {intangible assets

fa) Summary of intangible assets

Goodwill IT Softwure Other Totsl

£ mitlion £ miilion £ milfion £ milfion
Cost
At 1 January 2018 2.300.1 587.7 217 29095
Impairment - (B.6} - 8.6)
Additions 1.5 1604 - 1619
Disposals - 193.7) - (93.7y
Effect of movement in exchange rates 22 - - 22
At 31 December 2018 and | January 2019 2.303.8 645.8 21,7 29713
Impairment - 0.4 - 10.4)
Additions - 892 - 89.2
Disposals . - (75.1) - (75.1)
Effect of movement in exchange rates 112.6) - - (42.6)
At 31 December 2019 2.291.2 6595 21.7 249724
Acc lated amortisation and impairment
A Januany 2018 138.0 178.8 1.2 318.0
Amortisation charge - 1701 147 185.8
Disposals - {93.7) - (93.7)
At 3F December 2018 and | January 2019 138.0 256.2 15.9 4{0.§
Amortisation charge - 192.0 1.4 193.)
Disposals - {75.1) - 175.1
At 31 December 2019 138.0 373.1 17.0 5281
Net book value
Al 3) December 2019 T.153.2 2864 4.7 24443
At 3t December 2018 2.165.8 389.6 5.8 2.561.2
At | January 2018 2.162.1 J08.9 20.5 25915

The amontisation charge has been recognised through administrative expenses in the Group Income S1atement.
(b)) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives

Goodwill and ather intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but instead are tested for
impairment ot feast annually. Goodwill is allocated 1o reporting units, the assets of which are separately
operated and monitored. Management considers that there are (wo reporting units felating to the group’s
operations in the UK and Ireland.

The group evaluates the recoverable amount of the group's reporting units, using a fair value fess costs to sell
method. The group's estimate of the recoverable amount is based primarily of vbservable EBITDA multiples
lor recent transactions and publicly —traded peer companies. which are Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.
The group’s 2019 goodwill impairment assessment determined that tair value exceeded the carrying value of
both of the group’s reporing units and as a result concluded that no impairment to goodwill was required.
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1T Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 January 2018

Additions

On acquisition of subsidiary
Transfers

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Dispasals

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 20[9
Lease opening balance adjustment
Additions

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

AL Y| December 2019

Depreciation

At | January 2018

Provided during the year

Transfer

EHect of movement in exchange rates
Dispusals

AL 31 December 2018 and | January 2019
Provided during the year

Impairment release

Effect of movement in exvhange sates
Disposals

AL 31 December 2019

Net book value
At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2018

At 1 Januan 2018

The group did ot capitalise any borrowings costs during the vear,

Inluded in "Other are the (ollowing net book values:

Frechokd land and buildings
L.easehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Network

assets Other Total

£ million £ million £ million
13.843.3 1.343.0 15.186.3
1.166.6 164.3 1.3309
4.8 - 0.8
31.8 3.5 -

7.8 [N 8.9
16183} 1374y 1655.7
14.431.7 14393 15.871.2
10.% 1366 147}
LO03 4 187.8 1.193.2
43.5) (5.6) (49.4)
(799. 1) 143.33 (842.6)
14,6050 17148 16.319.8
921296 920.0 10.049.6
Wil Lis8 10369
16.1 (l6.n -

4. 0.7 1.8
(616.7) 126.5) 1643.2)
9.454.2 930 104481
890.0 156.7 1.046.7
424.7) - (324.7)
12301 2.7 125.8)
1779.3) 432 (822.5)
94171 1.104.7 10.221.8
5. 487.9 Ol 1 6.098.0
1.977.5 443 6 54231
L7137 4230 51367
019 2018

£ million £ nuilion

RER) 354

291 29.8

3.6 6210

231 {273

44
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12 Financial assets

2019 2018
£ million £ million

Nan-current
Restricted cash 220 5.5
Deferred financing costy 16.2 14.5
Derivative instruments (see note 21 430.9 7419
Amounts owed by related parties 4.9538 4.826.0
54229 5.587.9

Current

Derivative instruments (see note 21) 8§24 143.0
Restricted cash o1 ol
8.5 143.1

Amounts owed by related parties are primarily in respect of loan notes receivable trom Liberty Global Europe 2
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Global ple that sits outside of the Virgin Media group, which
have an aggregate principal balance of £4,926.4 million (2018; £4.826.0 mitlion). These comprise of principal
amount owtstanding of £1.501.5 million 12018: £1.501.5 million) which incur imerest at a rate of 8.5% repayable
in Aprit 2023 and £3.424.9 million (2018: £3.324.5 million) ai a ratec of 4.763% (subject 10 adjustment)

repayahle in July 2023,

13 Trade and other receivables

2019 2018
£ mitlion £ million
Non-current
Prepay ments and accrued income 363 37.3
Onher receivables - 0.1
36.3 37.4
Current
Trade receivables 4294 4177
Amounts owed by parent and group undertakings 1.6 -
Amounts owed by related parties 35.3 46.8
Prepayments and accrued income 184.6 164.0
650.9 628.5

Prepayments and accrued income classified as nen-current include Jonyg term telecommunications contract
assets with terms in excess of one year.

Current amounts owed by related parnties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

T'rade receivables are non-interest bearing, are generalty on 30.90 day terms and are stated net of pravision for
non-recoverability. The proup’s trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impainment
aid it was concluded that a provision for non-receverability of £19.5 million (2088 - £10.6 milbont was
required. The carryving value of trade receivables is vonsidered to be a fair approsvimation of fair value,

Lhe aliowance for doubtful accounts is based upon the proup’s assessment of probuable foss related to
uncollectible trade receivables. Fhe group uses a number of factors in determining the allowance. including,
among other things. collection trends, prevaiting and anticipated economic conditions and specific customer
credit zish. The allowance is maintained until cither receipt of payment or the likelihoud of collection is
considered 1o be remote.
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13 Trade and other receivables (continued)

Aovements in the provision for impairment ol recei

At | January 2018

Charge for the year

Litilised

At 31 December 2018 and 1 Januans 2019
Charge for the year

L itikised

At 31 December 2019

vables were as Follows:

I'he ageing analysis of rade receivables is as follows:

Neither
past due nor
Totat impaired

£ miifion £ million
31 December 2019 4204 3246
31 December 2018 417.7 e

14 {nveatories

Croods for resale
Programming inventory
Total Inventory

15 Cash and short term depaosits

£ million
330
5.7
139.2}
19.6
3.2
(23.3)
19.5
Balances past due
<30 days M- 60 days 60 - 90 days >90 days
£ miflion £ mitlion £ miflion £ million
REX.2 244 .8 30.0
8.0 144 7.8 3010
2019 2018
£ million £ million
30.9 120
237 28.7
516 60.7

Cash al bank earns interest at floaling rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made (or
varying periods of berween one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
group, and carn intercst at the respective shon-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents
inctuding overdrawn cash book balances at 31 December 2019 was £33.9 million (2018 - £16.2 million).

Cash at bank and in hand
Short-term deposits

2019
£ millien

2048
£ million

161
0.1
16.2
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16 Trade and other payables

17

Current

Trade payables

VAT, pavroll taxes and social security costs
[nterest payable

Amounts owed lo parent and group undenakings
Amounts owed o related party

Accruals and deferred income

2009
£ million

3543
161.0
1332
522
189
B423
1.591.9

2018
£ million

375.9
148.9
197.7
367
63.9
839.9
1.663 0

I rade pavables are non-interest bearing and generally repayable on terms of up to 60 days. Trade pavables.
interest payable and amounts owed to group undertakings are financial liabilities which are excluded from note

17.

Amounts owed to group undenakings and to related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

Non-cutrent
Other long term payables

2019
£ miflion

26.8

Other long term payables consist of property and restructuring costs provisions.

Financial liabilities

Current

§ease liabilitics {see note 18)
Current instalments due on other Jublt
Derivative instruments (see note 2t
Vendor linancing

Non-current

Lcuse liabilities tsee nowe 18}

Non-current instalments due un senior credit facilin
Senior mes

Senier seeared notes

Non-curment instalments due on other debn

Dreris ative instruments {see note X1

Y endor lingncing

Tordl financial Habilities

2019
£ millien

335
s
133.6

17627
20313

188.¢)
30984
1.I87.3
1471
1427

B TP
724

LIS LRI
12,494 8

2018
£ million

36.8

2018
£ mitlion

57
772
IR

1.HIK.3
20131

48.4
35398
1.538.7
19867
261.3
2927
.7
16,7325
12.745.6
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings at 31 December were repayable as follows:

2019 2018
£ miilion £ million
Amounts $alling due:
Within one year ) 1.804.4 1.981.0
I more than one year but ot more than five years 340.2 o031
n more than five years 96376 94885
11.782.2 123726
Less: issue costs 145.3) 155.7)
Toal borrowings 11,736.9 12.316.9
Financial liabilities not classed as borrawings 757.9 4287
12.494.8 12.145.6

Total financial liabilities

Financial liabilities not classed as borrowings include amounts payable to parent and group undertakings.

vbligations under leases. interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rale swaps

L.vans repayable in more than live vears are as follows:

2019

Loans repayable after 5 years: £ million
Senior notes 1.057.2
Senior secured potes 4.490.8
Scnior credit facilities 1.014.6
Other debt 75.0
9.6376

018
£ million

1.417.0
4476.6
15615

34
94885

Vendor financing

The group enters into vendor financing arrangements to finance cerain property and equipment additions and
operating costs. The amounts owed pursuant to these arrangemenis are interest bearing and include VAT which
was paid on the group’s behalt by the vendor. Repayments of vendur financing obligations are included in the
repayment of borrowings in the Group Cash flow Statement. The weighted average cost of vendor financing

debt is 4.96% and is substantially due within | year,

Senior notes

2019
£ miltion
Sertior notes consist of
U.S. Dollar
5.25% senior notes due 2022 ¢principal ar maturity 32 million) KL
540

4.875% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $72 milliom
6.00% senior noles due 2024 (principal al maturity $497 million) 3147

5.75%4 senior notes due 2023 (principal at matrity $389 million) 031
7060.6
Srerling
5.1249, senjor notes due 2022 (principal at maturity £44 mitliony 1h1
63739 senjor notes due 2024 (principal at maturits £300 million) -
4401
Erer
4.5% seniur notes due 2023 principal ot maturity €460 miftion) 3804
1.ess: i550¢ COSLS 16.8)
1,187.3

018
£ million

Jo.6
5B.3
390.0
513.8
3117

444
3000
34401
413.3

(103
1.558.7

T otal senior notes
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Senior secured notes

2019 2018
£ million £ million
Nenior vevured notes consist of
LS. Dollar
§.25% senior secured nates due 2021 ¢principal at maturity 3448 mitlion) - 4027
5.5% senior potes due 2025 (principat at maturity $425 milliom) - 278t
%.25%, senior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity %1000 miltion) - 787.4 .
5.5%% senior notes due 2026 (principal at maturity $750 million) 565.6 5884
5.5% semior notes due 2029 (prinipal at maturity $825 million) 1.08i9 -
1.647.5 2.056.6
Sterling
3.5% senior secured notes due 2021 (principal at maturity £107 million) - 1258.7
5.5% senior secured notes due 2625 (principal at mawurity £387 miition) - 387.0
5.125%0 senior secured notes due 2025 (principal at maturity £300 million) . 300.0
6.00% senior secured notes due 2025 ¢principal at maturity £521 million) 540.1 3332
5.00%% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £675 million) 675.0 675.0
4.875% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £525 million) 525.0 325.0
6.25% senior secured notes due 2029 (principal a1 maturity £300 million) 362.0 4024
5.25% senior secured notes due 2029 (principal at maturity £340 mibion) 3412 B
4.25% senior secured notes due 2030 { principal at maturity £400 million) 0.0 -
TTIB433 T 29483
Less: issue costs t18.9) 18.2)
Total senior secured hotes 14719 4,986.7

In May 2019, Virgin Media Sccured Finance plc issued (i) $825.0 million (£622.0 miilion) principal amount of
2029 V' Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (it) £300.0 million principal amount of 2020 VA 5.25% Sterling
Senior Secured Notes. Each series of notes was issued at par and matures on May 15, 2029. The net proceeds
from the issuance of these notes were used to redeem in full {2} £387.0 million outstanding principal amount
under the 2025 VAl 5,5% Sterling Senior Secured Notes. (b) $354.5 mitlion (£267.3 million) outstanding
principal amount under the 2025 VM Doltar Senior Secured Notes and (¢ ) £300.0 million outstanding principal
amount under the 2024 VA1 Sterling Senior Notes. [n connection with these transactions, we recognised a loss
on debt modification and extinguishment of £37.4 million related to {1} the payment of £34.0 million of
redemption premiums and (2) the write-off of £3.4 million of unamorused deferred financing vosts and
discounts.

tn July 2019, Virginh Media Secured Finance ple issued an additional $600.0 million (£452.4 million) principal
amount uf 2029 VM Doliar Senior Secured Notes at 101.75% of par. The net proceeds from the issuance of
these notes were used to redeem in fult (i) $447.9 million (£337.7 million) outstanding principal amount under
the 2021 VM Dollar Senior Secured Notes and (i) £107.1 million outstanding principal samount under the 2021
VM Sterling Senior Secured Notes. In August 2019, we issued an additional £40.0 million principal amount of
2029 VWA 5.25% Sterling Senior Secured Notes at 133" of par. he net proceeds from the issuance of these
notes were wsed to Tesdeem an equal outstanding principal amount of 2029 VAl 6.25% Sterling Senior Secured
Nutes. In connection with these transactions. we recognised a net loss on debt modification and extinguishment
of £23.3 million retated o (ai the payment of £25.7 million of redemption premiums and ¢by the write-off of
£2.4 million of net unamortised deferred Anancing costs, discounts and premiums.

In the fimaacial year 2020, the group compleled vatious linancing transactions. see note 31 tor further details,
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Senior credit fucility
2019 2018
e non-current instalmends due on the senior credit fucility consists of. £ mitlion £ million
.85, Doklar
VA Facility K
LIBOR + 2.50% senior credit facility due 2026 (principal at maiurity $3_40G.0 24821 2.664.6
million)
Euro
| VM Facility O
EL'RIBOR + 2.50% senior credit facility due 2029 (principal at maturity €750.9) 6334 -
million)
Sterling
VA Faciliny L
LIBOR+ 3.25% o senior credit tacility due 2027 (principal at maturity £400.0 million) 400.0 460.0
VM Faciliny M
! LABOR - 3.23%q senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £300.G miflioni +940, t 4660
40146 3.363.6
Less: issue cosis i16.2) (23.8)
Senior credit facility due after more than one year 3998 .4 3.519.8
The currenr instalment of the senior credin facility consises uf’
VM Revolving Facility
LIBOR - 2.75% revolving facilits - -
Total senior credit facitity 30984 35398

In October 2019, Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited (i) entered into WAL Faciliy . s $3.300.0 miflion
(£2.488.1 million) term loan facility, and VM Facility O. a €730.0 million (£635.0 million} term loan facility.

i both issued at 99.75% of par. and (ii) issued £400.0 million principal amount of 2030 VAl Sterling Senior
Secured Notes at par. The nes proceeds Irom these transactions. together with certain other funds. were used w0
(a) prepay in full the $3.300.0 million (£2.563.5 million) outstanding principal amount on VAL Facility K and
(b redeem in full (1) $1.,000.0 mitlion (£754.0 million) owstanding principal amount of the 2026 VN 5.25%,
Pollar Senior Secured Notes and (20 £300.0 million vutstanding principal amount ot the 2025 VM 5.125%
Sterling Senjor Sceured Notes, In connection with these transactions, we revognised a net foss on debt
modification and extinguishment of £53.3 million related to 1 33 the payment of €363 million of redemption
premiums and (B) the write-off of £17.0 million of net wpamonised deferred financing costs. discounts and
premiums.
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The VM Credit Facility requires that certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group that generate hot
fess than 807 of such group’s EBITDA (as defined in the VM Credit Facility) in any financial year, guarantee
the payment of all sums payable under the VA Credit Facility and such group members are required lo gram
first-ranking security over all or substantially all of their assets lo secure the payment of all sums payable. In
addition. the holding company of each bormower must give a share pledge over its shares in such borrower.

At 31 December 2019, the senior secured credit facilities of the group included two multi currency revolving
credit facilities (*Revolving Facility™) Revolving Facility A was a mulli currency revolbving facility maturing on
31 December 2021 with a maximum berowing capacity equivalent to £50.0 miflion. and Revolving Facility B
was a multi cumrency revolving facility maturing on 15 Jansary 2024 with a maximum borrowing capacity
equivalent to £950.0 million.

In addition to mandatory prepayments which must be made for certain disposal proceeds (subject to certain de
minimis thresholds). the lenders may cancel their commitments and declare the loans due and pavable after 30
business davs following the occurrence of a change of control in respect of Virgin Media Investment Holdings
L.imited. subject to certain exceptions.

The VM Credit Facility comains certain customary events of default, the occurrence of which. subject to certain
exceptions and materiality gualifications, would aliow the lenders to (i) cancel the total commitments. (ii)
accelerate all outstanding loans and terminate their commitments there under and-or tiii} declare that all or part
of the loans be payable on demand. The VM Credit Facility contains certain representations and warranties
customary for facilities of this type. which are subject (o exceptions. bashets and materiality gualifications.

The VM Credit Facility restricts the ability of certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group 1o, among
other things, {i) incur or guaraniee certain financial indebtedness. (i) make cenain disposals and acquisitions
and (iii) creats cerain security interests over their assets, in each case, subject to carve-outs from such
limitations. ’

The VM Credit Facility requires the borrowers to abserve certain affirmative undertakings or covenants. which
covenants are subject to materiality and other customary and agreed exceptions. In addition, the VM Credit
Facility also requires compliance with various financial covenants such as Senior Net Debt to Annualised
EBITDA and Total Net Debt to Annualised EBITDA, each capitalised term as defined in the VM Credit
Facility.

In addition 1o customary default provisions. the VA Credit Facility provides that any event of default with.
respect 1o indebtedness of £50.0 million or more in the aggregate of the company. and its subsidiaries is an
event of default under the VA Credit Facility.

The VAl Credit $acilin permits certain members of the Virgin Media Borrowing Group to make certain
distributions and restricted payments 1o its parent company {and indirectly to Liberty Global) through loans,
advances or dividends subject to compliance with applicable covenants.

Rextrictioms

The agreements zoverning the senjor notes and the senior credit facility signiticantly. and. in some cases.

absolutely restrict the group’s abilits and the ability of most of its subsidiaries tu:

incur or vuaraniee additional indehtedness:

e pay dividends or make other distributions. or redeem or repurchase equity interests or subordinated
ubligations:

»  make investments:

o sell assets. focluding shares in subsidiarics:

= create liens:

s enter into agreements that restrict the restricted subsidiaries’ abilin o pay dividends. wansfer assets or

make intercompany loans:
e merge or consolidate or transter substantially all of the group’s assets: and
e enter into transactions with affiliates,
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18 Leases

General
We enter into leases for network equipment, real estate and vehicles.

ROU assers
Right-of-use assels related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment property are
presented as property. plant and equipment.

2019
£ million
Land and Build 1.4
Network 32
Other 181.5
201.2
Additions to the right-ol-use assets during the 2019 financial year were £47.010.000
Amaounty recognised in profit
Fhe income statement shows the following amounts related to leases:
2019

£ million

Jepreciation charge of right-of-use assets:

Land and Buildings 1.5
Network 34
Other kYA
42.0
tnterest expense 10.8
Short-teem lease expense -
52.8

I'he wial cash outflow for leases in 2019 was £48.000.000.

Lease liabilities
Nlaturities of our lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 are presented below:

2019

£ million

Lusy than onme year 46.3

One to five years (X1
Niore than five scurs to7.6
Fotal undiscounted lease liabilities 3756

lmpact of finance expenses (a4 n
L ease Liability included in the statement of financial position 221.5
Current 333
Non {Current ’ | 88.U
Check 221.5

I he weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied 1 the tease liabilitics on | Januany 2019 was
5 64%.

=
(]
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19

20

Provisions
Property
related Other
costs provisions Total
£ million £ million £ miltion
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
Current 24 RN 55
Non-current 119.9 1.0 1239
122.3 7.1 129.4
Established during the year (1.6} 338 2
Used during the year 3.9) 135.8) (39.9)
Revisions in cashflow estimates 1.3 . 13
Movement in discount rate 54 - 54
At 31 December 2019 123.5 3.1 128.5
Analysed as:
Current 1.4 32 16
Non-current 1221 20 1249
123.5 5.1 128.5

Property related costs
Property related costs expected 10 be incurred are mainty in relation to dilapidations costs on leasehold
prupertivs. The majority of the costs ure expected o be incurred over the aeat 28 yuars.

Lrher provisiens
Other provision elements mainly consist of National Insurance contributions on share options and restricted
stock unit grants and redundancy costs resulting from restructuring programmes.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The group's principal financial liabilities. other than derivatives. comprise bank loans (senior credit facility),
senior notes. senior secured notes. finance leases, vendor financing. trade payables. hire purchase contracts and
loans made 1o parent and fellow group undenakings. With the exception of trade pavables the main purpose of
the financial fiabilities is to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations. The group has various
financial assets such as trade receivabfes and cash and short term deposits, which arise directly from its
operations,

The group is exposed to various market risks. including credit rish. foreign cxchange rate risk, Hquidity risk and
interest rate risk. Market risk is the potential boss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. As
some of the group's indebtedness accrues interest at variable rates there is exposure 1o volatility in future cash
flows and eamings assoviated with variable interest pay ments.

Interest and principat obligations on some indebtedness are in U5, dollars and euros. A5 a result the group has
cxposure to volanhty i future cash flows and eamings assoviated with changes in foreiyn exchange rates on
pavments of interest and principal amounts on 2 portion of its indebtedness.

I'he gcroup ha< entered into various derivative instruments to manage interest rate nish, and foreign eschange
risk with respect to the U8, doblar. comprising of interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and
toreign currency forward contracts. The objective is to reduce the volatility of the group's cash flows and
earnings caused by changes in underlying rates,

The main nishs arising from the group's financial tiabilities are described below:

Interest rate rish

The group is subject 1o ipterest rate rish because it has substantial indebiedness a1 variable rates oi interest, At
31 Deccmber 2019, before taking imo account hedging instruments. interest is determined on a variable basis
on £4.013.6 million (2018 - £3.563.5 million) or 32% (2018 - 29%) of indebtedness. relating solely 10 amounts
drawn down on the seaior credit facilities. The group aims to reduce the volatlity of its cash flows and earnings
as a result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derivatisve financial instruments
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20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies {(continued)

Interest rute risk profife of financial assets
The group's financial assets include cash on money market deposit at ¢ail. seven duy and monthly eates, and
amounts owed by parent undertakings and related parties charged at variable inlerest rates.

Seasitviey analvsis of changes in interest rares

Interest rate rishs are presented by way of a sensitivity analysis in accordance with [FRS 7 Tinuncial
Instruments. Disciosures’. These show the effects of changes in markel interest eates on interest paveents.
interest income and expense. other components and. as appropriate. equity. The interest rate sensitivity analyses
are based on the following assumptions:

+  Changes in market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only
alfect income if measured at fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed interest rates that
are carried at amortised cost are not subject [0 interest rate risk as defined by IFRS 7.

*  Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-
interest financial instruments. the interest pavments of which are not designated as hedged items of
vash flow hedges against interest rate risks. As a consequence, they are included in the calculation of
interest rate sensitiviti

*  Changes in the marke! interest rate of interest rate derivatives dinferest rafe swaps and cross-currency
interest rate swaps) that are not part of a hedging relationship as set out in IFRS O “Finuncial
Instruments  affect gains or losses on derivatives and are therefore taken into consideration in the
caleulation of interest rate sensitivities.

*  Foreign currency forward rate contracts are not subject to interest rate risks and theretore do not affect
interest rate sensitivities.

Based on debt ai 31 December 2019, inciuding amounts owed to and due from parent and group undertakings.
and taking into consideration hedging instruments, a 0.25% movement in market interest rates would resutt in
an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest incomerexpense of £8.6 million (2018 - a 0.25% movement
in market interest rates would result in an annual increase oF decrease in the gross interest income/expense of
£8.3 million}. Movements in gross interest expense would be recognised in finance income and finance costs in
the Group Income Statement.

Forelen clirvencey exchange rate risk

The group is also subject to foreign curmency exchange risks because interest and principal obligations with
respect to a portion of its indebtedness is denominated in ULS. dollars and euros. T'o the extent that the pound
declines in value against the 1'.S. doliar and the euro. the effective cost of servicing LS. dollar and curo
denominated debt will be higher, Changes in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or losses.

As of 31 December 2019 the group bad £4.890.3 million (2018 - £5.532.9 million). or 41°% (217 45%) of
external indebtedness. denominated in (5. dollars and £1.022.9 million (2018 - £413.3 million). or 9% (2018
I"at of external indebtedness. denominated in euros (see note 17). The group has a programme in place to
mitigate the rish of losses arising from adverse changes in foreign curreney exchange rates which uses a number
of derivative financial instruments. When taking imo consideration cross currency interest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward rate contragts. the majority of external debt is hedged against foreign currency
exchange rate risk.

for the vear ended 31 December 2009 the group had Foreign currency gains of £200.7 million 12018 losses ol
£326.1 million ).

the gains for the year ended 31 Docembet 20149 were primarily due to the strengthening of pound sterling
relative to the LS. dollar in respect of the LS. dollar denominated debt issued by the group, partially offset by
the US. dollar denominated debt advanced to group undertakings. The losses for the year ended 31 December
2018 were primarily due o the weakening of pound sterling relative to the LS, dollar in respect of the S,
dotlar denominated debt issued by the group. partiatly offset by the 1.8, dollar denominated debr advanced to
wroup undertakings.
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Sensitivity analysis of changes in foreign curreney exchunge rates

For the presentation of market risks. IFRS 7. ‘Financial Insiruments  Discloxures’ tequires sensitivity analy sis
that shows the effects of hypothetical changes of foreign currency exchange rates of relevamt rish variables on
profit or loss and shareholders’ equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes
in risk variables 1o the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the
reporiing date is representative of the year as a whole.

Currency risks are defined by IFRS 7 as arising on account of financial instruments being denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency and being of a monetary nature. Relevant risk variables are
generally all non-funclional currencies in which the yroup has financial habilities. excluding amounts due to
parent undertakings.

The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions:

Major non-derivative monetary financial instruments (liquid assets, receivables and finance lease liabilities) are
directly denominated in the functional currency. There are therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations in respect
of these instruments which have an effect on profit of loss or shareholders’ equity. Interest income and expense
from financial instruments are also gither recorded in the functional currency or transferred to the functional
currency using derivatives.

The gtoup has a number of derivalive instruments with various counlerpanties to mapage its exposure (0
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Exchange rate fluctuations. on which the financial instrumems are
based. affect gains or losses on detivatives in the finance income or finance costs lines, respectively. of the
Group Income Statement.

The following table demonsirates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the pound sterling against
U.S. dollar and euro exchange rates with all other varisbles remaining censtant. of the group's profit before tax.
Due 10 foreign exchange ranslation of monetary assets and liabilities, the impact of translating the net assets of
foreign operations into sterling is excluded from the sensitivity analysis:

Incresse Efecton
decrease in profit/(loss)
achange before Lax

rates £ million
Wi
Sterfing'1: 5, dollar -20% B213
Seedling 1S dollar 26 AT
Stetting turo -2 b 2
Sterling euro My BIER
2018
Sterling ' dollar 2% w3
Sterding U4 Jolbr 2% [ 10
Seerny euro SRy ma
Merling euro S ES 16k gy

Lagptaduty risk and capteal moiagement

Fhe company is a wholly owned subsidian and its ultimate paremt company is Liberty Global ple. Capital
management policies are operated at a Virgm \ledia group level by the management of Liberty Global pic. The
agrecments that govert the Virgin Media group’s indebtedness set out financial maintenance tests and restrictive
covenants. and it is the policy of the Virgin Atedia group to maimain adequate headroom against these tests and
cosvenants.

N
Lh



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Finzncirl Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

20 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)

The Virgin Media group’s business is capital intensive and the Virgin Media group is highly leveraged. The
Virgin ‘Media group has sipnificant cash reguirements for operating costs. capital ¢xpenditure and interest
espense. The level of the Virgin Media group's capital and operating expenditures are alfected by significant
amounts of capital sequired 1o connect customers to the network. expand and upprade the networh and offer
new services. Cash on hand, together with cash from operations and an undrawn credit facifity. are expected 1o
be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's cash requirements through to 12 months from the date of this report.
The Virgin Media group has significant scheduled repayments that may need to be financed through means
other than reliance on cash flow from operations. such as raising additional debt or equity. refinancing the
existing facility . possible loans from parent undertakings or related parties. sale of assets or other means. 1t may
not be possible to oblain adeguate financing, or sell assets a all, or on favourable terms, or the terms of the
senior credit facility or senior notes may prevent the Virgin Media group from incurring additional indebtedness
or selling assets.

As of 31 December 2019 the group had £11.929.6 million of external debt tinciuding finance feases. vendor
financing and net of deferred finance costs) outstanding, compared to £12,371.0 million as of 31 December
2018 and cash and cash equivalents of £33.9 million compared to £16.2 million at 31 December 2018,

[he principal amount outstanding under the senior credit facility at 31 December 2019 was £4.014.6 million
(2018 - £3.563.7 million). The senior credit facility comprises two term facitities denominated in pounds
sterling of £40¢.0 million and £49%.0 million respectively 12018 £400.0 million and £499 4 milliony. one term
facility denominated in UL.%, doliar of £2.482.0 million 12018 - £2.66+.6 milliom. one term facilin denominated
in curo of £633.4 (2018 - £nily and one revolving facility of £1,000.0 million (2018 two revolving tacilities of
£625.0 million and £50.0 million). At 3{ December 2019, £4,014.6 million (2078 - £3.539.8 million) of the
term Facilities net of issue costs had been drawn. The group had £675.0 million available of its revolving credit
facitities for bank guarantees and standby letters ol eredit,

The group does not frave any scheduted principal payments on its senior nates and senior credit facility unti!
2022, However, if the group was unable to meet repay ment conditions o service these obligations through cash
fkows from aperations. then it would Reed to secure additional funding such as ratsing additional debt or equity.
refinancing the existing facility. selling assets or using other means. It may not be possible to obtain financing
or sell assets. at all or on favourable wrms. or the group may be contractually prevented by the terms of is
senior notes or senior credit facility from incurring additional indebtedness or selling assets,

A maturity analysis ot financial liabitities, outstanding at 31 December. showing the remaining contractual
undiscounted amounts pavable, inchuding interest commitments. is shown below:

Less Greater than
than 1 year 1t Syeurs S venrs Total
201y £ million £ miltion £ million £ million
Serjor credit facifits, senior nutes and senior
secured notes 5453 RA i 99547 136053
4 ¢endor financing L8717 81t - 1,952.8
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 30 282 1340 1714
Denvative contracts 658 198.6 720 536.3
2018
Semor ckedit facility, senior noles and senior
secured notes 593.3 35602 10,187 .8 134.5341.5
Vendor financing 1.0427 4.7 27 19
Finance fease and hire purchase vontracts 9.6 283 1355 173.0
Derivative contracis 109 T9 8 2839 e

Fhe above amounts exclude other financial liabilities, such as trade puyables. which are all repayable in less
than one year. Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings have also been excluded as they are repavuble
on demand.
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21

Creeit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party 1o a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The group's financial instruments thal are exposed to concentrations of credit
risk consist primarily of cash, trade receivables and derivative contracts.

At 31 December 2019, the group had £33.9 million (2018 - £16.2 million) in cash and cash equivalents. These
vash and cash equivalenis are on deposit with a number of major financial institutions and. as part of the Virgin
Media group's cash management process, regular evaluations of the credit standing of these institutions are
performed using a range of metrics. The group has not experienced any losses in cash balances and
management do not believe it is expased to any significant credit risk on its cash balances.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited because of the large number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic area. The Virgin Media group performs credit
evaluations of its business customers® financial condition and gencrally does not require cellateral. No single
Eroup OF customer represents greater than 10™ of total accousts receivable.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to derivative contracts are focused within a limited number of
international financial institutions with which the Virgin Media group transacts and relate only to derivatives
with recorded asset balances. The Liberty Global group performs regular reviews of the financial institutions
with which it transacts as o their credit worthiness and financial condition. The group includes a credit risk
adjustment based upon the credit default swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments. however. the
group does not expect there to be any significant non-performance rishs associated with its counterparties.

Financial 1nstruments

Derivative Instruments #nd Hedging Activities - financial risk management

The company and group have cbligations in a combination of US dollars, euros. and pounds sterling ar fixed
and variable interest rates. As a result the group is exposed to variability in its cash flows and eamings resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

The group’s objective in managing its exposure lo inferest rates and foreign currency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of its carnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures 1o govern these exposures and has cntered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts.  Subsidiaries of Virgin Media Finance PLC hold financial instruments which hedge the foreipgn
currency risk of debt issued by its fellow group undertakings. It is the group's policy nut to enter into derivative
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes. nor to enter into derivatise financial instruments with a
level of complexity or with a risk that is greater than the exposure to be managed. I'he amounts below include
amounts relating to short term as well as Jong term pay ables.

With the ¢xception of a imited number of foreign currency forward contracts. the group has elected not o
designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges. although these remain economic hedaes,
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21 Financial [nstruments (continued)

I'he fair values of derivative financial instruments secognised in the Group Balance Sheet are as follows:

Inclded within current ussets

Fuir vulue hedies
interes| rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps

Dernvatives aor designuied us hedaes
interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Foreign Curreney Forward Contract

Included within ron-current aises:
Fumr vadue hedges
[nterest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Dorndtives il desigried us hedies
interest rate swaps
Cross-curfency interest rale swaps

Inelrdod withun currens labilitios.
Derivatives mot designaied o8 hedges
Enferest rate swaps
Cross-currency inferest rate swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Included within son-current liabilities:

Derivatives not desivndted oy hedges
Interest rate swaps
Crass—currencs {Merest rae »waps

2019 2018
Emillion £ million
177 1
58 10.0
ha ) 2119
33 924
o R
824 1430
89 227
376 75.7
735 17.7
3109 605.8
4309 7419
126.4 472
70 347
0.5 -
1356 819
M0 23
1618 504
1028 2927

Cross-carrency intevest rate swaps - hedging the principat and interest payments of sepior notes and

senior credit facility

1 he terms of the group’s outstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps. which are used o mitizate the interest
andd foreign exchange rate rishs relating to the pound sterling value of principal and interest payments on LS,
doliar and curo denominated senior notes and senjor secured notes at 31 Devember 2019, were as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedges

January 2023
April 2019 - lamuan 2028
Fanuary 20210
January 2023

Hedpe type

ot designated
ol desigaated
Fair value

ot designated

Notional Notiong]

1 ] Weighted
due from due to average
counlerparty  cOunterparty remaining
million mitlion life
$246.3 €270 0
§10.584 7 £7.8350 58
$272.9 £168.6 1.0
£2,296.2 S3500.0 54
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Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligations

As of 31 December 2019, the group had outstanding interest rate swap agreements 10 manage the exposure W
variabifity in future cash flows on the interest payments associated with its senior credit facitity which accrues
at variable rates based on LIBOR. The group has also entered into interest rate swap agreements (0 manage its
exposure 10 changes in the fair value of certain debt obligations due to interest rate fluctuations. The interest
rate swaps allow the group to receive or pay interest based on six month LIBOR or fixed rates in exchanpe for
paymenls or receipts of interest at six month LIBOR or fixed rates.

The wrms of the group’s outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Final matarity

date of hedpe Hedge type Pay fixed rote Receive fixed rate
Weighted Weighted
Notional average Notional wverage
million remaining Life million remaining life
January 2020 - January 2025 Not designated €1,1145 21 €714.7 4.2
January 2023 Not designated - - $354.5 50
January 2024} . May 2027 Not designated £)5.352.8 2.7 £7.202.1 4.7
January 2024 Fair value - - £628.4 1.6

The notional amounts of multiple derivative instruments that mature within the same calendar month are shown
it aggregate.

Interest rate swaptions

The group has entered into various interest rate swap options (swaptions). which give the right. but no
obligation, to enter into certain interest rate swap contracts at set dates in the future, with each such contract
having a tife of no more than threx years. At the transaclion date, the strike rate of each of these contacts was
above the corresponding market rate.

The terms of outstanding inlerest rate swap option contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Notional Weighted

amount Undertying  average option

due from SWap expiration

Finat maturity date Hedge type caunterparty currency period

miltion
October 20272 _ January 2026 Not designated £5,340.2 £ 1.0
January 2023 - January 2025 Not designated £364.0 € 0.6
Basis Swaps

The terms of autstanding basis swap contracts at 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Notional Notional Weighted

amount amount Average

due from due to remaining

Final maturity date Hedge type counterparty  counterparty life

million million
July 2020 ot designated £900.0 L3000 0.3
July 2020 Not designated $3.300.0 $3.300.0 0.5

59



Virgin Media Finance PLC

Notes to the Group Finuncial Statements
for the yvear ended 31 December 2019

21 Financial Instruments (continued)

Foreige currency forward options and forward contracts

The group has entered into external foreign currency forward options and foreign currency forward contracts in
order to manage Foreign currencs cxposure risk with respect to Indian rupee (ENR).

Fureign carrency forward options

The following foreign currency forward oplions with 4 third party were in place at 31 December 2014:

Exchange currency Notionil amount
million
Indian rupec £3.%

Fuoreign currency forward contracts
Fhe following foreign currency forward contracts with a related party were in place at 31 December 2019:

Maturity dates Currency purchase forward Currency sold forward
milllion milltion
January 2020 - June 2020 $10.0 £7.9

Cash flow hedges

The group has elected not to designate derivative instruments as sccounting hedpes. although these remain
economic hedpes. The goup has recognised effective portion of gains on lesses in the unrealised gains and
losses in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income as reselt of historic derivative instruments that were
designated as cash tlow hedges and hedpes of commercial eperational contracts.

Changes ia the fair values of derivative instruments are recorded as gains or losses on derivative instruments in
the Group income Statement in the period in which they occur. The following table presents movements in
Other Comprehensive Income related to cash low hedges for the year ended 31 December 2019:

Cross
currency
inlerest rate
Total swaps  Tax effect
£ million £ miilion £ million
Balance at 31 December 2018 53 1156 209
Amounts recognised in Statement of '
Comprehensive [ncome reclassitied o camngs 53 54 -
Halance at 3} December 2019 1n.7 110.2} 20.9

included within amounts reclassified to carnings is £5.4 million of net losses that have been recycled from the
cash tlow hedue reserve through the income statement in respect of swaps for which either designation was
revoked. or the hedged instruntent was setled as part ot refimancing activities

Fair value hedpes
Ior derivative instruments that are designated and qualily as fair value accounting hedges. dhe gain or tuss on

derivatives is recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they accur. together with any
changes in the fair vatue of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged rishs.
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Set cut below is a comparison by calegory of carrying values and fair values of the group’s financial assets and
financial tiabilitics. where different. as at 3| December:

2019 019 2018 2018
Carrving value Fair vaiue Carrving value Fair value
£ mitlion £ million £ million £ million
Senior credit tacility {3.998.H (4.126.8) (3.539.8) {3.609.4)
5.25% LS. dollar senior notes due 2022 (38.9) (39.7) (49.7) (49.6)
4.875% LS, dollar senior notes due 2022 (54.1) £55.0) (58.5) 157.6)
5.125% pound sterling senior notes due 2022 (44.2) .M (44.3) 44.1)
6.375% pound sterling senior notes due 2024 - - 1298 4) (302.3)
6% L1.S. doliar senior notes gue 2024 (372.6) (387.3) 1387.3) (377.1»
4.5% cura senior notes due 2025 (3867 {400.7) {409.9} (409.7)
3.75% U.S. dollor senior notes due 2025 291.4 (302.5) 3117y 1296.23
5.50% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2021 - - (106.9) (113.7;
5.35% 1S, dollar senior secured notes due 2021 - - 11546 (348 O
5.5% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 B - {385.3) 1386.0y
5.5%% U.S, dollar senior notes due 2025 - - 277.3) (274.2)
5.125% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2025 - - (298.0) (298.4)
6.0% pound sterling senior secured noses due 2025 (339.9) {375.6) (5327 (3794
5.25% UL.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 - - (786.0) {723.0)
5.5% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 (561.1 15959) (5839) {549.0)
4.875% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 {523.6) {549.5} (523.4) {494.8)
5.0% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2027 (672.1) (717.6) {671.6} t639.5
6.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 (360.7 (385.3) 400.8) 1402.9)
5.50% U.S dollar senior secured notes due 2029 (1LO77.3) (1,142.4) - -
5.25% pound sterling senior secured notes due 2029 (340.H) (368.9 ~ -
1.25% pound sterling senior secured aotes due 2030 (396.4) ($08.5) - -

The carrying values of amounts not listed above approximate their fair values.

The group uses the following hicrarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

Level t L nadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabalities,

Level 2 Unadjusied guoted prices in active markets for similar assets or Habilities; or
Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active: or
Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liabilits .

Lesvel 3 1 pobservable inputs for the asset or liability .

The group endeayours to utitise the best available information in measuring fair value. Fenancial assets and
liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input thal is significant 1o the fair value
medsurenwnl.
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Financial Instruments (continued)

As al 31 December 2019, the fair value of the financial instruments held by the group is as follows:

Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ millioa £ million £ million £ million
Financial assets at falr value

Cash. short term deposits and restricted cash 55.9 - 559
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 856 - 1850
Interest rate swaps - 127.7 - 1277
359 513.3 - 569.2

Financial liabilities at fair value
Senior credil facility 41268 - - 4.126.8
Senior potes 1.329.2 - - 12292
Senior secured notes 28243 - - 28243
Cross-currency interzst rate swaps - 168.8 - 168.8
interest rate swaps - 3484 18.7 36710
Foreign currengy forward rate contracts - 0.3 . 0.5
: 8.180.3 5177 i8.7 8.716.7

in estimating the fair value of other financial instrumenes. the group used the following methods and
assumplions:

Cavkt und shovt erm deposis. and resinicted cash: The carfying amounts reported in the Group Balance Sheet
approximate fair value due to the short mawrity and nature of these financial instruments.

Derivanve financiul sarements As a result of the group’s financing activities. it is exposed to market risks
from changes in interest and foreign currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect éts operating results
and financial position. When deemed appropriate. the group mininises risks trom interest and foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations through the use of derivative financial instruments. The foreign currency forward
rale contracts. inlerest rate swaps (escluding swaptions ) and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued using
broker guotations, or markel transactions in either the listed or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-
performance rish. As such. these derivative instruments are classified within level 2 of the fair vakae hierarchy.
Due to the lack of Level 2 inputs for the swaption valuations. the group believe these valuations fall under
Lewel 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Newfor aoles, sedtor secared aotes wed credit faciline: The Fair vaives of the senjor credit facility | senior notes
and senior secured notes in the above table ane based on the guated market prices in adctive markets for the
underlying third parts debt and incorporate non-pertormance risk. Accordingly. the inputs used to value the
senior notes and senior secured notes are classified within level | of the fair value hierarchy

During the year. there were no transters between Level 1. Level 2 and Level 3.

F.quity share capital

2019 2018
£ 000 £ (o
WHotted caliod upr and fulh paid
7618412018 - 76.184) ordinany shares ot £1 ¢ach 76 76
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23 Share-based payments

The group’s employees are entitled to partake in Liberty Global plc share-based schemes. These share schemes
consist of siock options and performance plans including stock appreciation rights (“SARs™). performance-
based share appreciation rights ("PSARs™I. restricted stock. restricted stock units ("RSUs™) and performance
share units (~PSUS™). The schemes provide share based compensation to individuals under the conditions
describe below. The grant date fair values for options. share appreciation rights (SARs) and performance-based
share appreciation rights (PSARs) are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. and the grant
date fair values for restricted share units (RSUs) and performance-based restricted share units (PSLU's} are based
upon the closing share price of Liberty Global ordinary shares on the date of grant. We calculate the expected
life of options and SARs granted by Liberty Global to employees based on historical exercise trends. The
arrangements are equity settled with the employees, Liberty Globaf recharges the group for share schemes made
available to the group employees.

Full detailed information on the group's share based payments are disclosed in the financial statements of
Virgin Media In¢. which are available on Liberty Global's website at www . libertyglobal.com.

The income statement charge for share based payments for the year was £45.1 million (2018: £27.2 million).

Liberty Global Share Incentive Plans

a5 of December 31. 2019, we are authorised to prant incentive awards under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive
Plar and the Libenty Global 2014 Nonemployee Director Incentive Plan. Generally. we may grant non-qualified
share options, SARs. PSARs. restricted shares, RS 's, cash awards, performance awards or any combinarion of
the foregoing under either of these incentive plans (collectively, awards). Ordinary shares.issuable pursuant to
awards made under these incentive plans will be made available from either authorized but unissued shares or
shares that have been issued but reacquired by our company. Awards may be granied at or above fair value in
any class of ordinary shares. The maximum number of Liberty Global shares with respect 1o which awards may
be issued under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Globa! 2014 Nenemployee Director
Incentive Plan is 155 million (of which no more than 50.25 million shares may consist of Class B ordinary
shares) andi0.5 million, respectively, in each case. subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions in
the respective plan. As of December 31, 2019, the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan and the Liberty Global
2014 Nonemployee Director [ncentive Plan had 71.262.640 and 8.652.029 ordinary shares available for grant,
respectively,

Awards {other than performance-based awards) under the Liberty Global 2014 Incentive Plan generally (i) vest
12.5% on the six month anniversary of the grant date and then vest a1 a rate of 6.25% each quarnter thereafier
and (ii) expire seven years after the grant date. Awards {other than RSL s} issued under the Libeny Global 2014
Nonemployee Director Incemtive Plan penerally vest in three equal annual instaiments, provided the director
continues to senve as director immediately prior to the vesting date. and expire seven vears after the grant date.
RSUs vest on the date of the first annual general meeting of shareholders tollowing the gramt date. These
awards may be granted at or above tar value in any class of ordinary shares.

Liberty Global Performance Awards

The following is a summary of the material terms and conditions with respect to Laberty Global's performance-
based awards tor certain executive officers and hey employees Tor which awards were granted under the 1ibenty
Global Incentive Plan and the Virgia Media Incentive Plan.

Liberny Global PST s

In Klarch 2015, 1 ibeny Global's compensation commitice approved the grant of PAL'S to executive officers and
key employees (the 2015 PSL's). The performance plan for the 2015 PSUs covered a two-year period ending 31
December 2016 and included a performance target based on the achievement of a specified compound annual
growth rate (CAGR) in a consolidated operating cash flow metric (as delined in the applicable underlyving
agreement). The performance target was adjusted for events such as acquisitions. dispositions and changes in
foreign currency exchange rates that affect comparability (OCF CAGRy and the participant’s annual
performance ratings during the two-year performance period. Participants earned 99.3% of their targeted

awards under the 2015 PSU's. which vested 50%q on each of 1 April 2017 and | October 2017,
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Share-based payments (continued)

In February 2016, Liberty Global's compensation committee approved the grant of PSL's to executive officers
and key employees (the 2016 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of a
specified OCF CAGR during the three-y ear period ending December 31, 1018, The 2016 PSUs require delivery
of a compound annual growth rate of our consolidated OCF CAGR of 6.0%0 during the three-year performance
period, with over- and under-performance payout eppontunities should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail to meet
the target. as applicable. The pecformance payout may be adjusted at the compensation committes’s discretion
for ¢vents that may affect comparability . such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates and accounting
principles or policies. The 2016 PSLs will vest 50% on each of | April 2019 and 1 October 2019. During 2018,
the compensation committee of Liberty Global's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs to executive
officers and key employees (the 2018 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the achievement of
a specified Adjusted GIBDA CAGR during the two-year period ending 31 December 2019, The 2018 PSLUs
include over- and under performance payout opportunities should the Adjusted OIBDA CAGR exceed or fail to
meet the tarpet. as applicable. A pertormance range of 50% to 125% of the target Adjusted OIBDA CAGR will
penerally result in avward recipients earning 50% to 150% of their warget 2018 PSUs, subjest to reduction or
torfeiture based on individual performance. The carned 2078 PSU's will vest 50% on | April 2020 and 50%s on
1 October 2020. The target Adjusted OIBDA CAGR for the 2018 PSUs was determined on 26 October 2018
and. accordingiy, associated compensation expense has been recognised prospectively from that date.

Liherns Global Challenge Performance dwards

Effective 24 June 2013, Liberty Glubal's compensation commitiee approved the Chailenge Performance
Awards, which consisted solels of PSARs for Liberty Global's senior exequtive officers and a combination of
PSARs and PSUs for other executive officers and key employees. Fach PSL! represented the right to receive
one Liberty Globat or LiL.AC Class A or Class C ordinary share. as applicable. The performance criteria for the
Challenge Performance Awards was based on the participant’s performance and achievement of individual
goals in each of the years 2013, 2014 and 2013, As a result of satisfying performance conditions. 100%a of the
then outstanding Challenge Performance Awards vested and became fully exercisable on 24 June 2016 The
PSARs have a term of seven vears and base prices equal to the respective market closing prices of the
applicable class on the grant date.

Virgin Media Stock Incentive Pluns

Equity awards were granted to certain of the group’s employees. prior 1o Liberty Global's acquisition of Virgin
Media in June 201 3. under certain incentive plans maintained and administered by the group and no new grants
will be made under these incentive plans. The equity awards granted include stoch options. restricted shares.
RSUs and perfonmance awards. Awards under the '\l tncentive Plan have a [0-yvear term and become fully
exercisable within five vears of continued employ ment.

Reserves

Fogaery share capiial
The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on issue of the company’s equity share
coapital, comprising £ ordinare shares.

Shure promum aecotrd
Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company’s cqusty share capital in excess
of the nominal value of shares fssued.

Fredamry share peserve
1 he treasury share reserve was created in 2014 and subsequently cancelled in 2018 as a result of group wide
restruclutes nvelying the compans and fellow Virgin Media group companies.

Crher capitul reverves comprining moerger reserve and capitul contrshugions
The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired through group reorganisations have given rtise tw the
requircment o make adjustments on consolidation in the merger reserve.

U arcalived gains und losses
This reserve records the portion of gain of [uss on hedging inscuments, that are determined to be cffective
hadees. and the exchange diffurences on retranstation of foreign operations,
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Reserves (continned)
Foreign currency franxiarion reserve
This reserve records the gain or loss on the retranslation of subsidiary undenakings with functional currencies

other than pound sterling.

Retained earning
This reserve records all cutrent and prior period retained profit and losses.

Capital commitments

2019 2018
£ miltion £ million
Amouats contracted for but avt provided in the accounts 131.7 3143

Contingencies

On 19 March 2014, the UK government announced a change in legislation with respect to the charging of VAT
in connection with prompt payment discounts such as those that the group offer 1o fixed-line telephony
customers. This change, which took effect on | VMay 2014, impacted the group and some of its competitors. The
UK tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quaner of 2015 challenging the group’s application of the
prompt payment discount rules prior to the | May 2014 change in legislation. The group appealed this decision.
As pan of the appeal process. the group were required to make aggregate payments of £67.0 mitlion.
comprising of the challenged amount of £63.7 million ( which the group paid during the fourth quarter of 2015)
and related interest of £3.3 million (which the group paid during the first quarter of 2016). No provision was
recorded by the group at that time as the likelihood of loss was not considered to be probable. The aggregate
amouni paid does not include penalties, winch could be significant in the event that penalties were to be
assessed. [n September 2018. the court rejected the group’s appeal and ruled in favour of the UK tax authority.
Accordingly. during the third quarter of 2013, the group recorded a provision for litigation of £63.7 million and
related interest expense of £3.3 million in the group’s income statement. The First Tier Tribunal gave
permission to appeal to the Upper Tribunal and the group submitted grounds for appeal on 22 February 2019.

In April 2020. the Upper Tribunal rejected our appeal, ruling in favour of HMRC, The Group is currently
seehing permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal; however, ho assurance can be given as to the ultimate
outcome of this matter.

Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The group operates two detfined benelit schemes in the LK. the NTL Pension Plan and the 1999 mtl Pension
Scheme, and one defined benefit scheme in Ireland. Virgin Media leeland Limited Defined Benefit Plan. which
provide both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. Penston benefits are related 1o the members’
final salan at retirement und their length of service.

Defined comiribution plans

I'he group contributes 10 the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans of eligible employees
Contributions are charged 1o the Group Income Statement as they become payable, in accordance with the rufes
of the plans.

Contributions 10 the defined contribution plans during the period were £27.6 million (2018 - €24.5 million).

The ameunt of outstanding vontribations at 31 December 2019 included within current liabilities was £4.1
million {2018 « £3 & million).
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Defined benefit pluns
The group recopnises any actuarial gains and fosses in each period in the Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

= 1999 n1) Pension Scheme

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (71999 ntt
Pension Plan™). The plan has never been apened o aew entrants except when the plan began and subsequently
on 31 Nay 2007, on both occasions new members were transferred from other existing plans. The Plan was
closed to future accrual on 31 January 2014, The assets of the plan are held separatcly from those of the
company. being invested in units of exempt unit trusts, The plan is funded by the pavment of contributions 1o
separately administered trust funds. The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualitied
actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method.

* NTL Pension Plan

A subsidiary. Virgin Media Limited. operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits ¢-NTL Pension
Plan™). The pension plan was closed to new entrants as of 6 April 1998, The Plan was closed 10 future accrual
on 31 Japuary 2014, | he assets of the plan are held separately from those of the company. in an independently
administered trust. The plan is funded by the payment of contributions to this separaely administered wrust.
The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified acwaries on the basis of trieanial
valuations using the projected unit credit method.

* Viegin Media lrelaud Limited Defined Benefit Plaa

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Ireland Limited, operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (“Virgin
Media reland Limited Defined Benefit Plan™ previously called the “UPC Communications Ireland Limited
Defined Benefit Plan™). The Plan was closed to future acerual on 31 July 2015, The assets ol the plan are beld
separately from those of the company. in an independently administered trust, The plan is funded by the
pay ment of contributions o this separately administered trust. The pension costs are determined with the advice
o independent qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method.

The plans™ assets are measured at fair value. he plans’ liabilities are measured using the projected unit method
and discounted at the current rate of retum on a high guality corporate bond.

The 1able below provides summary information un the group’s defined benefit plans:

2019 2018
£ mitlion £ million
Projected benefit obligation 6i7.0) (563.1)
Fair value of plan assets 6955 G450
Net assut 78.5 81.9
Net periodic pensian vost 0.9 2.2
Net defined benefit asset represented by
Net defined benefit liabiliny (7.9 (7.8
Net defined benefit asse 864 897
74.5 519
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

\tovements in the defined benefit assets and liabilities are as follows:

Inefined beneln obligation Fuir value of plan xsals et defincd bepefit {lmbribity Yassel
e b1} 2y 208 me 2018
£ midlon £ miftion € wmillion £ millioa £ milhoa £ miltisn

Th Irelamd 1K Ircland {K Ircland UK Irctand 1K freland tK  Irelssd

Ralance a1 | Januury R3trey 3V (SKM &) tH 7 a7 23y At 254 Ky ? 170 Ton RN
tncluded in income
Lurment Admn seevice cost - thhy - [ - 1E6y - 1y
Pas senice cost B E 127 . - B . . 2
Fmerest tcosty incoie HC R W a3 "k Ty 174 i 157 s 24 102 I & T{]
Inclwded in 4K 1
Actuanal Chss kg aFsang from
Chunges

hanges sn demographn e . 13 ) . N . by - 33
Uasumplions
Chunges In linancidl wssumpLihs (MER) 4y ka3 ne - . - LN 49) 4 ue
I xporverne adpestmnenis n? 02 145 1o - - - 97 a2 14 % KL
B u gy .

batarm on plan avscts ¢veluding . S34 2% WsW O ® 81k T TR
thierest ifcome
ther
Contsihuttons pand tn the . ay 11127 17 0y 17 127 17
<mplover
1-fec " —

Jhets of movements m eechange m . 05 Y i 04 . a3 i Wl
Tigtes
Benetits pad v e n: [N 4y ey 2020 i 16 .
HRulsmce ut 31 December (310} (e (53 {330 6674 281 6147 253 Rod (719 ¥.7 (7.8}

1999 ntl Pension Scheme and NTL Pension Plan have been disclosed within the “UK™ figures.
Virgin Media Ireland Limited Defined Benefit Plan is shown within the “Ireland™ figures.

The group's pension pian weighted-average asset allocations by asset category at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018 were as follows:

2009 Ireland
UK long long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return  lretund total
£ millicn £ million
Lguities 3.3% 81.7 2.2% 10.8
Property 5.3% 2.3 - -
Corporate bonds 2.0% 196.7 22% 13.2
Government bonds 1.3% 69.0 - -
Hedype funds 4.8% 80.2 - -
Insurance policy thuy-in) 20° 182.5 - -
Cash and other 1.3% 46.0 220, 4.1
Total market value of assets ' 673 T X
Present value of plan liabilitics (581.01 136 0)
et pension asset ¢liability) 86.4 17.9}
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2018 Ireland
LK fong long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return  Ireland 1ota)
£ million £ million
Equities 3.8% 734 229, 9.8
Property 5.8% 3.0 - -
Corporate bonds 2.8% 354 2.0% 1.3
Government bonds 1.8% 66.0 - -
Hedge funds 3.3% 228 - -
Insurance palicy (buy-in) 2.8% 171.0 -
Cash and other 1.8% 60.1 2.2% 42
Total market value oF assets 6107 B A5y
Present value of pian liabilities (530.0) (340
Net pension asser { liability) 84,7 £7.8}

The trustees of N'TL Pension Pian purchased an insurance contract that wili pay an income stream to the plan
which is expected to match all future cash outflows in respect of certain liabilities. The fair value of this
insurance contract is presented as an asset of the plan and is measured based on the future cash flows 10 be
received under the conmract discounted using the same discount rate used to measure the associated fiabilitics.

Actuarial assumptions -
The following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date texpressed as weighted averagesy:

2019 2018
UK lrelang UK  Ireland
Discount rate 2.0% 1.2% 2.8% 2%
Future salary increases 2.9 0.0°% 3.2% 0.0%

The assumption for future salary increases is no longer applicable for the Virgin Media treland Limited Detined
Benefit Plan after 31 July 2015 as the Plan was closed 1o future accrual from this date and benelits are no longer
linked to salaries. Members of the L K pension schemes who remained employed by the group retain their
satary fink for revatuation of their deferred benelus.

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet date are based on
standard actuarial mortality tables and include an ablowance for future improvements in longevits. The
assumptions are equiralent to expecting a 6Oy ear 0dd to live tor a number of vears as tollows:

Uk
2019 2¢18
Currert pensioner aged 60 (males 273 272
Current pensioner aged 60 (femaler 294 294
Fiture retirec upon reaching 60 (nale) 8.8 287
Future retiree upon reaching 60 1 female) 0.6 06
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27 Pension and other post-retirement benefits {continued)

23

The assumptions for the Virgin Media lreland Limited pensivn scheme are equivalent 1o expecting a 63-year
old & live for a number of vears as follows:

Iretand
2019 2018
Current pensioner aged 65 (maie) 223 224
Current pensioner aged 65 { female) 243 243
Future retiree upon reaching 65 (male) 242 241
Future retiree upon reaching 65 (female) 26.2 26.1

Sensiivity zoalysis :

‘Fhe valculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive (o the assumptions set out above. The following
table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have
increased ‘(decreased) as a result of @ change in the respective assumptions by 0.25 percent.

2019 2088
UK Ireland Uk Ireland
Discount cate (244 (.4 (22,00 t1.5)
Inflation 2.3 0.4 31 0.4

In valuing the assets of the UK pension fund at 31 December 2019, mortality assumptions have been made as
indicated above. I life expectancy had been changed to assume that all members of the fund lived for ane year
longer, the value of the reported liabilities at 31 December 2019 would have increased by £26.2 million before
deferred tax for the UK pensions. Life expectancy sensitivity assessment has not been carried out on the Irish
pension scheme.

The above sensitivities are based ori the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last fuil actuarial valuation at 31 December 2019 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the reporting period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analysis does not take account of the full
distribution of cash flows expected under the plan. it does provide an approximation to the seasitivity of the
assumptions shown.

Funding
The group expects to contribute £2.4 million 1o the defined benefit pension plans in 2020.

Related party transactions

During the year, the group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with vther related partics.
Transactions entered into during the year. and trading balances owtstanding at 31 December with other related
parties. are as tollows:

Services Interest Interest Amaounts Amounts
rendered by charged to  charged by owed by owed to
related reluied refated related related
party party party party party
Relared parny £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
Parcnn andertikings
2o - - - - (520
RITE - - - - 1330
Pellow subsidion
undertah mgs
iy - - - in -
RO - - - - (37
Liberry Glohal wroup
uidertakings
2y 225 2R3 R - 353 148 93
RIHTE {136 W) 3134 (i3 408 163 4
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Parvnr undereakingy

The group is headed by Virgin Media Ine. and has been indebted 1o the group. which receives interest income
according to the terms of cach loan agreement. The group recharges the ultimate paremt company for certain
costs directly attributed to the operations of that company including allocable payroll and related expenses.

Fellerw swhsidicers: sendertckings

The net recovery of debts by Virgin Media Limited relating 10 the customers of fellow subsidiary undenakings.
namely Virgin \Media Mobile Finance Limited. through centralised debt collection and treasury operations,
generates trading balances which arc offset by operating expenses and capital purchases that are also recharged
by Virgin Media Limited. virgin Media Limited is an indirect subsidiary of the company whilst Virgin Media
Adobile Finance Limited is vutside the group headed by the company.

Liberiy Group underiakings

The company’s ultimate parent is Liberty Global ple which also controls the group and the Virgin Media group.
Certain deh1 raised by the group has been passed up 1o Liberty Global entities that sit outside the Virgin Media
group. The debt of £4.926.4 million (see aote 12) attracts interest which Liberty Global entities pay to the group
according 10 the terms of each loan arrangement.

Terms and condituns of ransactions with related parties

The terms of the loans pavable to parent undertakings are as outlined in note 18, Certain expenses ire
specifically attributable to each company in the group. Where costs are incurred by Virgin Media Limited on
behall’ of other group compinics. expenses are allocated to the other group companies on a basis thal. in the
opintion of the directors. is reasonable.

Compensation of key management personnel (inciuding directors)
The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2019 20(R

£ million £ million

Shon-term employee benefits 10.5 4.2
Post-employ ment benetits 0.1 -

Non-equity incentive plan 33 ER

Share based payments +6 19

18.5 4.5

Key managerment represeats directors and members of Virgin Media's Executive Committee.

70



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

29 Principal subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the group held at Jeast 20%: of the nominal value of any class of share capital. all of
which are unlisted. are as follows. Al are segistered in England and Wales unless otherwise noted.

Proportion
of
velrag rightx
and
b b " Principal
Suhsidiar Holding  <hares held O
autiviles
Direct shareholdings of Virgin Media Finance PLC
Virgin Media [nvestment Holdings Limited Ordinary 100°%e Finance
Indirect shareholdings
NTL (Triangle} LLC = Common Stock 100% Holding
nt! Business Limited : Oxdinary 100% Telecoms
ntl CableComms Group Limited Ordinary 100%s Holding
ni Glasgow Lz Ordinary 56% Telecoms
ntl Kirklees Ordinary 829, Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinary 100 Telecoms
Virgin Media Investments Limited Ocdinary 100%a Finance
Virgin Media Ireland Limited ¥ Ordinary 1002 Telecoms
Virgin Media Limited Ordinary 100%, Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary H0%e Collections
Virgin Media Senior investments Limited Ordinary 100%s Holding
Vingin Media Wholesale Limited Ordinary [00%a Telecoms
Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited Ordinary 100°s Telecoms
Indirect shareholdings - gnaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006
BCMY Limited Ordinary 100%% Dormant
Birmingham Cable Corporation Limited Ordinary 10G°%0 Dormant
Birmingham Cable Limited Ordinan 100%a Dormant
Cable London Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
CableTel Herts and Beds Limiled Ordinary 130% Dormant
CableTel Noethern {refand Limited ¢} Ordinary 100% Dormant
CableTel Surrey and Hampshire Limited Ordinary 100°s Dormant
Eurobell (Holdings) Limited Ordinary 100%s Holding
nil {B) Limited Ordinary 100°%0 Holding
ntl {Broadland) Limited COrdinan [00%s Dormant
ntl |CWC S Corporation Limited : Ordinary 100% Dormant
nil (South £ast) Limited Ordinary 100°s Dormant
nth (W} Ordinany 100°a Darmant
ntl CableComms Surrey Ordinary 100°a Dormant
ntl Midlands Limited Ordinary 100°s Deormant
atl National Networhs Linvited Ordinary 1000 Dormant
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings {continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 { C ) of the Companies Act 2006 (continued)

Proportion
uf

voting rights
canred

Holding  shares held

Suhsidiary

ntl Pension Trustees f Limited Ordinary 16 1LY
ntl Pension Trustees Limited Ordinary 1009
ntl South Centraf Limited Ordiaary 100%
nth Telecom Services Limited Ordinary 100%
atl Trustees Limited Ordinary 130%0
Felewest Communications (Dundee & Perth) Limited T Ordinan 100"y
Telewest Communications (Glenrothes) Limited b8 Ordinary 100%0
1 .elr‘wesl Communications (Midiands and North West Ordinan 6%
Limited °

Telewest Communications {North East) Limited Ordinary 100°0
Telewest Communications (Scotland) Limited £ Ordinary 100%0
Telewest Communications ( Seuth Easti Limited Ogdinary Hx3%o
Telewest Communications { South West) Limited Ordinary 106% o
Telewest Communications | Tyneside) Limited Ordinary 1000
Telewest Communications Cable Limited Ordinany 0%
Theseus No.| Limited Ordinary 1%
1 heseus o2 Limited Ordinary 100%a
Virgin Media Employes Medical Trust Limited Ordinary 100%
Virgin Media PCHO H Limited Ordinany 100%
Virgin Media PCHC Limited Ordinary %o
A\ M T'ransfers (No 1) Limited Ordinary 100%
Yorhshire Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100%,

Principal
detiviies

Corporate
Trustee
Corporate
Trustee
Dormant
Dommant
Corporate
Trustee

Dormant
Dormant
Dormare

Holding
Dormamt
Dormandt
Dormant

Holding
Dormant

Holding,

Holding

Corporate
Trustee
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Doomant

The company will issue a guarantee under Section 394C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the sear ended 31
Decembrr 2019 in respect of the wholiy owned dormant subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect
shareholdings  puaranteed under Section 3940) of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees ull
outstanding liabilities to which the subsidiary company is subject to at 31 December 2019, until they are
satistied in full and the guarantee is entorceable against the company by any person w0 whom the subsidiany
company i» liable in respect of those liabilities. These dormant subsidiaries have laken advaniape of the
exemption from preparing individual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012 by vintue of Section

3944 ) of the Companies Act 2006,

The guarantee under Section 304y of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries, the

majority of which are 1009 owned. either directly or indirectly.
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29 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guarantced under section 479 ( A ) of the Companies Act 2006

Praportion

of

voling rights

and
. Principal

Holding  shares held o
dotivites
Subsidiary

Bitbuzz LK Limited Ordinary 100%0 Telecoms
Cable on Demand Limited Ordinary 100°%, Dormant
Casey Cablevision Limited ¥ Ordinary 100%% Telecoms
Channe! 6 Broadcasting Limited ¥ Ordinary 100%: Telecoms
Cullen Broadeasting Limited g Ocdinary 100°¢ Telecoms
Diamond Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Flextech Limited Ordinary 100%a Dormant
General Cable Limited Ordinary 100°¢ Holding
Kish Media Limited ¥ Ordinary 100% Dormant
Malcheo Limiwd Ordinary 76%e Dormant
atl (CWC) Limited Ordinary 100° Dormant
NTL. CableComms Group. LLC = Common stock 100%a Dormant
ntl Communications Services Limited Ordinary 100%s Holding
ntl Glasgow Holdings Limited m Ordinary 51% Holding
ntl Kirklees Holdings L imited n Ordinary 51% Holding
ntl Rectangle Limited Ordinary 100%% Helding
P.B.N. Holdings ¥ Ordinary 100% Holding
Telewest Communications Networks Limited Ordinary 100°0 Holding
Telewest Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
TuHamore Beta Limited ¥ Ordinary 100°%s Holding
TV Three Enterprises Limited hd Ordinary 100% Dormant
TV Three Sales Limited W Ordinary 100°% Dormant
L 'PC Broadband {reland Limited ¥ Ordinary 100°% Holding
Virgin Media Bristol LLC = Common stock 100% Finance
virgin Media Finco Limited Ordinary 100%q Finance
Virgin Media Operations Limited Ordinury 100%¢ Holding
Virgin Media Secretaries Limited Ordinary 100°%6 Dormant
Virgin Meodia Secured Finance PLC Ordinary 100°0 Finance
Vingin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Mudia Television Limited b4 Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin WiFi Limited Ordinary 100°0 Telecoms
VM treland Group Limited Ordinary 100%0 Holding

All companies are registered @t 300 Brook Drive. Reading. Uniied Kingdom. RG2 6UL unless otherwise noted
below:

Unit 3, Blachstaff Road. Kennedy Way Industrial Estate, Belfast. BT 11 9AP

¥ Macken House. 3940 Mayor Street Upper, Dublin i, DO C9WE

¥ | South Gy le Crescent Lane. Ldinburgh. L1112 9EG

Z 251 Lietde Falls Drive. Wilmington, DE 19808, These enlities are registered in the USA.
Q1550 Wewana Street. Suite (000, Denver. CO 80202
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30

31

Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

The company has issued a guaraniee under Section 479 C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the vear ended 31
December 2019 in respect of the subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under
Seution 47HC) of the Companies Act 20067, [he company guarantees all outstanding liabilities to which the
subsidiary company is subject 1o at 31 December 2019, until they are satisfied in full and the guaraniee s
enforceable against the company by any person 10 whoim the subsidiary company is liable in respect of thuse
liabifities. These active subsidiarics have tahen advantage of the exemption from audit of iadividual accoumts
for the vear ended 31 December 2019 by virtue of Section 479 A) of the Companies Act 2006

The guarantee under Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 2006 is in respect of the above subsidiaries. the
majority of which are 100%0 owned. either directly or indirectly.

Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company’s immediate parent undertaking is Viegin AMedia Communications | iaited.

The smallest and largest group of which the company s a member and in o which the company 's accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2019 are Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple, respectively.

The company’s ulimate parent undertahing ard controlling party at 31 December 2019 was Liberty Global ple.

Copies of the Virgin Media group accounts referred to above which include the results ol the company are
available from the company secretary, Virgin Media, 300 Brook Drive, Reading, United Kingdom, RG2 6ULL

In addition copies of the consolidated Liberty Globa! ple accounts are availabie on Libersy Global's website at
www_liberty giobal.com or from the company secretary. Liberty Global ple. Griffin House. 16+ Hammersmith
Road. London. United Kingdom Wé 8BS.

Post Balance Sheet Events
COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the recent outbreak of a novel sirain of coronavirus
{COVLD-19) 10 be a global pandemic. ln response to the COVID-19 pandemic, emergency measures have been
imposed by governments worldwide. including travel festrictions, restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses

Lhese measures have adversely impacted the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and crealed
significant volatitits and disruption of finascial markets. While it is not currently possible to estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken to contain or miligate its outbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business. financial condition and results of operations in
future periods.

Pending joint s enture tramsaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution: Agreement with, amonyg others, Telefoniva, $A
t Teleforical. Pursuant Lo this agreement. Liberty Global and elefonica agreed to form a 50.30 joinl venature.
which wilt combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK 1o create
a nationwide integrated communicitions provider,

The completion of this transaction is subject to certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulators authorilies. 1t is anticipated that the ransaction will close around the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights. including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty -four momhs following the date of the agreement,
which may be eatended by sis months under cenain circumstances,

4



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019

3

Post Balance Sheet Events (continued)

Financing transactions

In May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Reccivables Financing ple. a third-party special purpese financing entity,
was created for the purpose of facilitating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralised by certain
trade receivables of Virgin Media. creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary beneficiary
and, accordingly. Virgin Media, and uhimaiely Liberty Global, are required to consolidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing plc. The offering uf these notes resulted in net proceeds of £214.4 miilion.

In June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions, as further described below.

Senior notes tramsactions
The group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. The net proceeds. together with the
May 2020 proceeds were used fo redeem in full €46¢ million and $388.7 million outstanding principal amount

of 2025 senior notes.

The group issued an additional 2030 sepior notes with principal amounts of $250 million €500 million. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (11 to redeem in full $497 million oustanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million cutstanding principal amounis of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2} for reneral corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group’s existing secured notes and subjext to certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes transactions
The group issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $650 million and £450 mitlion. The net
proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) 1o redeem in full £525 million outstanding principal
amounts of existing 2027 senior secured notes. (2) 1o redeem in full £360 million vutstanding principal amounts
of existing 2029 senior secured notes. (3) £80.0 million of the £521.3 million cutstanding principal amount of
existing 2025 senior secured notes.

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group’s existing senior secured notes and senior secured
credit facility, and subject to certain exceptions, share in the same guarantees and security pranted in favour of

-its existing senior secured notes.

Vendor financing notes lragsactions

Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes Il Oesignated Activity Company (Virgin Media Financing 111

Company} and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Notes IV Designated Activin Company (Virgin Media
Financing 1V Company. and together with Virgin ‘tedia Financing L Company. the 2020 VM Financing
Companies) were created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor financing notes. The 2020 VM Financing
Companies are third-party special purpose financing entities that are not consolidated by Virgin \edia or
Liberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing |1} Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of £500 million and
£400 million. Virgin Vedia Financing 1\ Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts of
$500 million. The net proceeds fram the June 2020 Vendor Pinancing Notes were used by the 2020 A\
Financing Companies w purchase certain vendor-financed reveivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiarics from
previousls -existing third-party special purpose financing entities (the Original VAl Financing Companies) and
varicus other third parties
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Notes 2049 2018
£ million £ million

Fived assets
Investments 3 16994 4699 4
Current assets
Debtors due after one year 6 20000 2.650.3
Debrors due within one year 6 339 55,7
Cash at bank and in hand . 1.4 -

10353 2.706.0
Creditors: amounts falling due within one yeat 7 (329.5) -410.6)
Net carrent assels 1.705.8 22954
Total assets less current liabilities 6,405.2 6.994.8
Creditors: amounts falling due afier more than one
year 8 19,013.5) 19.177.0)
Net liabilities 12.608.3) (2,182
Capital and reserves )
Share capital N 0.1 0.l
Share premium account ] 6259 6259
Capilal contribution it 50 50
Accumulated losses 2 13.239.5) (2813
Shareholders’ deficit (2.608.3) 12.182.2)

The notes on pages 78 to 87 form part of' the financial statements.

The finanvial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on
28 September 2020,

(o)

R G McNeil
Director

Company Registration Namber: 03061787
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share Treasurn Profit
Share premium  Capital shares aad loss
capitai account contribution reserve account Toul

£ millien £million £millon £ million £ million £ million
At | January 2019 0.l 625.9 5.0 - (2.813.2) (2,182

Comprehensive income for the year
L.oss for the vear

b - d - (426.1) (426.1)

As at December 2019 .1 6525.9 50 - (3.236.3) _12.608.3)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Share Treasury Profit
Share premium  Capital shares and loss
capital account contribution reserve sccount Total

£ million £ million £million £million £ million £ million

At | January 2018 0.1 3.323.2 5.0 (2.880.2r (23176} (1.869.5)
Comprehensive income for the year

Loss for the year - - - - {195.6) (495 6}
Shares issued during the year - 182.9 - 182.9
Shares cancelled during the year - (2.880.2) - 2.880.2 - 0.0
Total transactions with owners - (2,697 .3} - 2.880.2 . 182.9
As at December 2018 0.t 625.9 5.0 - (2.8132) _(2.182.2)

The notes on pages 78 to 87 form par of these financial statements.
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t Company information

Virgin Media Finance PLC (the “company ) is a private company incorporated. domiciled and regisiered in the
UK The registered number is 05061787 and the repistered address is 0 Brook Drive. Reading, United Kingdom,
RG26UL.

2 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policics is set out below. All accounting policies have been applied
consistently. unless noted below.

2.1 Basis of accounling

These financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companies Act 2000 and the Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (“FRS 1017 .

In preparing these financial statements. the company applies the recopnition. measurement and disclosure
requirements of international Financial Reporting Standasds as adopted by the EL ("Adopted IFRSs™), but makes
amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where
advantaye of the FRS 107 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

! he company s uftimate parent undertaking, Liberty Global ple. includes the company in its consolidated financial
statements. Fhe consolidated linancial statements of Liberty Global pic are prepared in accordance with
Intemational Financial Reporting Standards and are available 1o the public and may be obtained from Liberry
Global's website at www. libertyglobal.com.

In these financial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under ¥RS 101 in respect of the
following disclosures. where required equivalemt disclosures are included within the company ‘s consolidated
financial statements:

u cash Alow statement and related notes:

disclosures in respect of related party transactions with fellow group undertakings:

disclosures in respect of capital management: -

the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

disclosures in respect of the compensation of hey management personnel: and

disclosures of wransactions with a management entity that provides key management personnel services to
the company.

s o 8 2 8

As the consolidated financia! statements of the company include the equivalent disclosures. the company has
alsu taken the exemptions under TRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

e |FRS 2 Share Based Pay ments in respect of group seitled share based payments: and
o certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Far Value Measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7
Financial Instrument Disclosures,

No profit und fuss account is presented by the company s permitted by Section 408 of the Compunivs Act 2006,
2.2 Gaoing concern

I he tinancial statemenis have been approved on the basis that the company remains a going concers. [he following
paragraphs summarise the basis on which the direerrs have reached their vonclusion.

$tis Virgin Vedia's practice for operational and financial management 1o be undertaken at a group leved rather than
for individual entities that are wholls owned by the group. Treasun operations and cash management for all of’
Liberts Global's whoily owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part ol normal
business practice. regular cash fow farecasts for hath short zad long term commitments are undectahen at group
Jevel
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2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Going concern {continued)

Forecasts and projections prepared for the Virgin Aledia group as a whole, indicate that cash on band. 1ogether with
cash from operations. repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn
revolving credit facilities. are expected to be sufficient for the Virgin Media group's and hence the company 's cash
requirements through to at least |2 months from the approval of these financial statements.

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared a1 the group level, the directors have also assessed the position
of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £2.608.3 million as at 31 December 2019 and a loss for the year
end of £426.1 million. this assessment indicates that. taking account of reasonably possible downsides. the company
will have sufficient resources, through funding from fellow subsidiary companies to meet its liabilities as they fall
due for that period. Virgin hedia inc has indicated its intention to continue to make such funds available to the
company as are needed.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for financial suppaort. the directors acknowledge that
there can be no certainty that this support will continue although. at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will sol do so. Consequently, the directors are confident that the
company will have sufficient funds to continue 1o mevt its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial stalements on a going concern basis.
Considecation of she potential impact of CON ID-19 has nut altered this conclusion.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Alonetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are transtated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

2.4 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and bortowings are initially recognised a1 fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. Afier initial
recognition, interest bearing Joans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase. settlement or otherwise canceliation of liabilitics are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set off apainst the
borrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related debt using the
cffective interest method.

1.5 Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. less provision for impairment as appropriate,  The company assesses al each
reponting date whether there is an indication that an investment may be impaired. If any such indication exists. the
company makes an estimate of the investment’s recoverable amount, Where the carny ing amount of an investment
esceeds its recoverable amount, the imvestment is considered impaired and i written down to s recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there was an event not foreseen in the original
impairment calculations, such as a change in use of the investment or a change in economic conditions.  [he
reversalof impairment loss would he to the extent of the fower of the recoverable amount and the carmying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment foss been recognised lor the investment in prior years.

2.6 Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The group has established policies and procedures to gorern the management of its exposure 1o interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks. through the use of derivative financial instruments, including interest rate

SWaps. CTOSS-CUrreney interest rule swaps and foreign curreacy forward rale contracts.

Derivative [inancial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at cach balance sheet date.
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Derivatives wre recognised as financial assets when the tair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

1 Accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Derivative financial instruments ind hedging (continued)

The foreign currency fuorward rate contracts. interest rate swaps and Cross-curfendy inlerest rate swaps are valued
using internal models based on observable inputs. counterparty valuations or market transactions in either the listed
or over-the-counler markets. adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based upon quoted credit
default spreads for counterparties 1o the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are subject to master
nening arrangements are not oftset and have not provided. nor require. cash collateral with any counterparty.

While these instruments are subject 1o the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates. these josses
would generally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Finencial instruments are only used to hedge underlying
commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes. nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure 10 be managed,

For derivatives which are designated as hedges. the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. This
docutnentation identifics the hedging instrument. the kiedged item or transaction. the nature of the risk being hedged
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration, Such hedges are expected at ingeption to be highty
eftecrive.

The group designates certain derivatives as vither fair value hedges, when hedging exposure to variability in the fair
value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments, or as cashflow hedges. when hedping exposure to
variabilits in cash flows that are cither attributable to a particular rish associated with a recounised asset or liability
or 2 highly probable forecast transaction,

Derivatives that are not pan of an effective hedging relationship. as set out in IFRS 9. must be classified as held for
trading and measured at fair value through profit or luss,

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as tollows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges. the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income. while the inetfective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken o other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the profitand loss account when the hedged transaction is recognised in
profit or loss. such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. in the same tine of the profit and loss account as the
recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the gains and losses
previvush accumulated in equity are transferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or
liability.

It a forecast tramsaction is no longer cxpected tw oceur. the gain or joss accumulated in equity is recognised
mmmediately in profit or loss. If tre hedging instrument expires or is sofd, leminated or esercised without
replacement or rollover. or il its designation as a hedge is revoked. amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive {neome remain in cgusty until the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassitied to the profit and
loss account.

Fair value hedges

For fair value hedges. the changes m the far value of 1he hedging instrument are recognised in profit or loss
inmediately . topether with any changes i the fair value of the hedped asset or liabibity that are attributabie to the
hedyed risk, The change in the fair value of the hedging mstrument and the change in the hedged item attributable 10
the hedged rish are recognised in the Jine ot the proficand loss account relating to the hedged item.

It the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised withow replacement or rollover, or if s
designation as a hedge is revohed. then the tair value adiustiment o the carry ing amount ol the hedged itern arising
from the hedged risk is amortised 10 profit or Yoss from that date.
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3 Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the company s accounting policies which are described above, management has not made
any critical judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. except
for:

Carrying value of investments

Investments are held at cost less any nevessary provision lor impairment. Where the impairment assessment did not
provide any indication of impairment. no provision is required. I any such indications exist. the carrying value of
an investment is written down o its recoverable amount.

Recoverability of imtercompany debtors
Intercompany debtors are stated at their recoverable amount less any necessary provision. Recoverability of
intercompany deblors is assessed annually and a provision is recognised if any indications exist that the debtor s not

vonsidered recoverable.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent
with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possibie but this is not always available. [n that case
management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that weuld
be achieved in an arm’s length wransaction ai the reporting date (see note 9).

4 Loss attributsble to members of the parent company
The loss in the accoumts of the parent company was £426.1 miilion (2018: toss of £495.6 million;.

5  Investments

£ million
Cost and net book value:
At | January 2019 4,699 .4
At 31 December 2019 46994
Net book value:
At 3 December 2019 4.699 4
AL 3 December 2058 1.609 4

Details of the principal investments in which the group or the company holds at feast 20%5 of the nominal value of
amy class of share capital. all of which are unlisted, can be seen in note 29 10 the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinior of the directors the aggregate value of the investments in subsidiary undertakings is not less than the
amount at which they are stated in the financial statements.,
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& Debtors
2019 2018
£ million £ million
Due after one year

Loan notes due from group undenakings 1,830 22778
Derivative financial assets 167.0 3725
2.000.0 2.650.3

Due within one year
Derivative financial assets 130 557
35.9 53.7

Amounts owed by group undertakings due afler one year represent loan notes which had a carrying value of
£1.833.0 million (2018 - £2.227.8 million) a1 the balance sheer date. Loan notes are denominated in sterfing,
bear interest of 4.89% ¢ (subject to adjustment) and mature in April 2026,

7 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2019 2018

£ million £ million

Derivative financial liabilities 6.6 55
Interest vn loan notes due 10 group undertakings 49.2 199
Interest payable on senior notes 251 286
Amounts owed Lo group undertakings 748 75.6
L.oan notes due to group underakings 175.8 281.0
329.5 410.6

L.oan netes due to group undertakings due within one vear include loan notes which had a carrying value of
£175.8 million (2018 - £281.0 million) a1 the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominuted in sterling and LS

dollar, bear interest ranging from 1.32% 10 7.53% and are repayable on demand

Amounts owed 10 group undertakings are unsecured. interest-free and repayable on demand.

8  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one Vear

2019 2018

£ million £ million

f.oan notes due 1y group underakings 7.7849.7 T.008.4
Senior notes 1.187.3 1.558.7
Drerivative financial Habilitics 365 9.4
90133 Y t77.0

Loan notes due 1o grovp undertahings flling due olier more than one sear had a carrving volue of £7.780.7
million {2018 - £7.608.4) at the balance sheet date [Loan notes are denominated in sterling and US dollar. bear
interest at £.80% (subject o sdjustmenty, and mature between April 2026 and January 2028,
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8  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Borrowings are repayvable as follows:

2019 2018
£ million £ miltion
Amounts falling due:
In more than two years but not more than five years 509.2 151.5
{n more than five years 8.504.3 9.025.5
96133 9.177.0
Borrowings not wholly repayable within five years are as follows:
2019 2018
£ mitlion £ mitlion
L.oan notes due to group undertakings 7.789.7 7.608.4
Senior notes 678.1 1.407.2
Derivatives liabilities 36.5 9.9
8.504.3 9.025.5
Total borrowings comprise: 2019 2018
£ mitlion £ million
5.25% U).S. dollar senior notes due 2022 38.8 49.6
4.875% LS. dollar senior notes due 2022 54.0 58.3
5.125% Sterling senior notes due 2022 +4.1 AR
6.00% U.S. dollar senior notes due 2024 3747 390.0
6.375%0 Sterling dollar senior notes due 2024 - 3000
5.75% LS dollar senior notes due 2025 293.1 3138
4.5% Euro senior notes due 2025 3894 413.3
L1941 1.569.1
{.uss issue costs 16.8) 1104
Towal senior notes 1,187.3 1.558.7

Financial instrumenis

The company has the following scnior notes in issue as a1 31 December 2019:

1) 5.25% senior notes due 15 Februarn 2022 - the principal amount at maturity is $51.5 million. Interest is
payable semi-anruatly on 15 February and 18 August commencing 15 Appust 2012

2) 4.875% senior notes due 15 Februany 2022 the principal amount at maturiny is $71.6 million. Interest is
payable semi-anawally on 15 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2003

33 51239, senior notes due 15 Februany 2022 the principal amount ot maturity is €441 million. Interest is
payable semi-annually on 15 February and 15 August commencing 15 February 2013,

1) 6.00%a senior notes due 135 October 2024 the principal amount at maturity is $497.0 million. Interest s
pavable semi-annually on 15 April and 15 October commencing 15 April 2015,

33 5.75% senior noted due 15 Janvary 2025 - the principal amount at materity is S388.7 milkion. Interest s
payable semi-annually on 15 January and |35 July commenciang 15 July 2015,

63 4.50% senior notes due |5 Januars 025 - the principal amount at maturits is €460.0 million. interest is
payable semi-annually on 15 Japuary and 15 Juby commencing |5 July 2015,
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8 Creditors: amounts falling due after mote than one Yedr (coutinved)

Virgin Media Inc.. a paremt company of the company. and alf the intermediate holding companies. guarantee
the senior notes on a senior basis. Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited, a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of the company, guarantees the senior notes on a senior subordinated basis and has no significam
assets of jts own other than its investments in its subsidiaries. The company has given » full and unconditional
guarantee of all amounts payable under the terms of the Virgin Media group™s senior secured credit facility and
senior secured notes.

In June 2020, Virgin \Nedia completed various financing transactions. see note 31 in the consolidated financial
statements.

9  Financial instruments

019 2018
£ million £ million
Financlal assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 2009 4282
Financial assets that are debt instruments mensured at amortised cost 1.833.0 22778
A RN I 060

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through protit or loss [ERAP] (15.4)
Financial fiabilities measured a1 amortised cost (9.299.% (9,572

(9.343.00 19.587.6)

Finanvial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
intercst rate SWaps.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise amounts owed by group undertakings.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or lossy comprise interest rute swaps and ctoss cutrency
interest rate swaps and certain other loans.,

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost vomprise senior secured noles net of issue covts, infergst
payable on seaior notes. amounts owed to group undertakings. accruals and deferred income.

Derivative tinancial instruments are designed to mitigate the risks experienced by the company. 1he company
has ebfigations in a combination of U5, dollars and sterling a1 fixed and variable interest rates. As a result, the
company is exposed to variability in ity cash flows and eamnings resulling from changes in foreipn currency
exchange rates and interest rates,

The group’s cbjcctive in managing its exposure 1o interest rate and foreign currency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of it earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the undertying rates. The proup has
esiablished policies and procedures 1o govern these exposures and has entered inlo derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps. cross-currency interest swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts. It s the group's policy not W enter mto derivative financial instruments lor speculative trading
purposes, nor to enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that s
greater than the exposure o be managed. Fhe aimounts below include wmounts refating to shart teem as weld as
fong erm creditors.

Financial and operational risk management s undertaken as part of the group’s operatiuns as a whole. These are
vonsidered in more detail i the consofidated financial statements of the group.

V'he derivative finapcial instruments held by the company are recarded at fair vglue on the balance sheet in
accordance with iIFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The fair values of these derivative linancial instruments are
valued using infernal maodels based on ubsersable mputs, counterparty saluativns, or market fransactions in
ither the Lisled or over-the counter markets. adjusted for non-performance rish,
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9  Financial instruments {continued)
Cross cCurrency swap contracts
The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Viedia
group:
Final Hedge type Notional amount  Notional amount  interest rate duc  Interest rate due
maturity due to due from to counterparty from counterparty
date counterparty counterparty
000 000
Feb-22 Not designated $63.271 £44 462 5.3% 3.7%
Feb-22 Not designated §71.310 £52.219 4.9% 34%
Oct-24 Not designated $ 497,000 £349.230 6.0% 4.5%
Jan-26 Not designated $3.400.000 £2.389.234 3.5% 39%
Interest rate swap contracts
The company holds the foliowing outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media
group:
Final Hedge type Notional amount  Notional amount  Interest rate due  Interest rate due
maturity duc to due from to coustterparty from counterparty
date counterparty counterparty
‘000 000
Jan-27 Not designated £400,000 £3400,060 4.29%, 480
Nov-27 Not designated £500.000 £500.000 4.29% +4.83%
10 Share capital
2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
Allonted. calted up and fully paid-
76,184 (2018 76.184) ordinary shares of £1 each 76 76
11 Reserves

Share vaprital

1 he balance classified as share capital represents the nominal vaive on dssue of the company's share capital.
vomprising £1 ordinary shares.

Nure preavium deceunt

Share premium represents the amount of consideration received for the company's share capital in excess of the
nominal value of shares issued.

Cupital contribution

The £5 million capital contribution was received from Virgin Media Comniunications Linited as part of a
comptehensive group restructuring in 2006.
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1

Reserves (continued)
freusury sharey reserve

The treasury share reserve represented the amount of the company’s ¢quity share capital together with share
premium held by VMFH Limited, which was a wholly owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Finance PLC. VMEFH
Limited acguired 19.7% of the company’s shares Irom \irgin Media Communications fLimited on 29
December 2014, The company subsequently acquired 100°0 of the share capital of ¥MFH Limited from Virgin
Aledia Communications Limited. Durging 20 (8. as result of a group wide restructure. VMFH distributed its
shares in the company to the company which were subsequentiy cancelled.

tecumadeted losses

Includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

Auditor's and directors® remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG L.LP and its associates tor non-audit services to Ihe parent company itse(f are not disciosed
in the individual accounts of Virgin \Media Finance PI ¢ because group financial statements are prepared which
disclose such fees on a consulidated basis.

The directors received no remuneration tor qualifying services as directors of this company. AN directors”
remuneration is paid and disclosed i the group’s financial stalements.

Guarantees

I'ne company. along with fellow group undertakings. is party 10 a senior secured credit facility with a syndicate
of banks. As at 31 December 2019, this comprised term facilities that amounted o £4.015 mittion (2018 -
£3.564 million) and an outstanding balance of £nil 12018 - Enil) which was borrowed under revolving facilities
of £1.0600 mitlion (2018 - £675 million). Borrowings under the facilities are secured against the assets of certain
members of the group including those uf this company.

In addition, a fellow proup undertaking has issued serior secured notes which, subject to vertain exceptions.
share the same guaraniees and security which have been granted in favour of the senior secured credit facility.
The amount outstanding under the senior secured notes al 31 December 2019 amounted 10 £4.19t million
(2018 - £4.938 million1. Borrowings under the notes are secured against the assets of certain members of the
sroup including those of this company

Furthermore. a fellow group undertzhing has issued senior notes for which the company. along, with certain
feltow group undertakings. has guaranieed the notes un # senior subordinated basis. The amount outstanding
uader the seqior nites as at 31 December 201Y amounted to approximately £1.194 million (2018 - £1.570)
militon). :

I 'he company has joint and several liabilities under a group VAL registration.

Parent undertaking and controlling party
The company’s immediate parent undertaking is virgin \Media Communications Limited

The smallest and largest groups of which the company is a member and in 10 which the company s accounts
were consolidared az 31 December 2019 arg Virwin Media Finance PLC and Liberty Global ple. respectively.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking and contratling pary at 31 December 2019 was Liberty Global ple.

Copies of group aveoums referred 1o above which include the resufts of the company are available from the
company secretary, Virgin Media. 300 Brook Drive. Reading. United Kingdom. RG2 6L L.

In addition copies of the consolidated Liberty Global ple accounts are available on Liberty Global's website at
wuw libemy global.com or from the company seeectary. | ibery Global ple. Gritfin House, 161 Hammersmith
Road. Lundon. United Kingdom W 6 8BS,

86



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the yesr ended 31 December 2819

15 Post Balance Sheet Events

COVID-19

fn March 2020. the World Health Organisation declared the recent outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
{COVID-19) to be a global pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic. emergency measures have been
imposed by povernments worldwide. including trave) restrictions. restrictions on social activity and the
shutdown of non-essential businesses.

These measures have adversely impacted the global sconoms. disrupted global supply chains and created
significant volatility and disfuption of financial markets. While it is not curremly possible 10 estimate the
duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse economic impact resulting from the
preventative measures taken 1o coniain or mitigate its outbreak. an extended period of global economic
disruption could have a material adverse impact on our business, finahcial condition and results of operations in
future perods.

Pending joint venture transaction

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Giobal entered into a Conrribution Agreement with, among others. Telefonica, SA
tTelefonica). Pursuant to this agreement. Liberty Global and Teletonica agreed to torm a 50:50 joint venture,
which wil] combine Virgin Media's operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider.

The completion of this transaction is subject 10 certain conditions. including competition clearance by the
applicable regulatory authorities. It is anticipated that the transaction will close around the middle of 2021. The
Contribution Agreement also includes customary termination rights. including a right of the parties to terminate
the agreement if the transaction has not closed within twenty-four months following the date of the agreement,
which may be extended by six months under certain circumstances,

Financing transactions

In June 2020, Virgin Media completed various financing transactions. as further described below.

Senior notes transactions

The company issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675 million. The net proceeds. together with
the May 2020 proceeds were used o redeem in fult €460 million and $388.7 million outstanding principal
amount of 2025 senior notes.

The company issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $250 million €500 million. The
net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) 10 redeem in full 3497 million vuistanding principal
amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million owstanding principal amounts of
existing 2022 senior notes and (2} lor general corpuralg purpuses.

The new secured notes mnk pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and sabpect W cenain exceptions.
share in 1he same guarantees and security granted i favour of its existing secured notes.
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